

### City Research Online

#### City, University of London Institutional Repository

**Citation**: Forth, J. ORCID: 0000-0001-7963-2817 and Rincon-Aznar, A. (2008). Equal Opportunities, Employee Attitudes and Workplace Performance. London, UK: Department for Business, Enterprise and Regulatory Reform.

This is the published version of the paper.

This version of the publication may differ from the final published version.

Permanent repository link: https://openaccess.city.ac.uk/id/eprint/20827/

Link to published version:

**Copyright:** City Research Online aims to make research outputs of City, University of London available to a wider audience. Copyright and Moral Rights remain with the author(s) and/or copyright holders. URLs from City Research Online may be freely distributed and linked to.

**Reuse:** Copies of full items can be used for personal research or study, educational, or not-for-profit purposes without prior permission or charge. Provided that the authors, title and full bibliographic details are credited, a hyperlink and/or URL is given for the original metadata page and the content is not changed in any way.

City Research Online:

http://openaccess.city.ac.uk/

publications@city.ac.uk



**EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS RESEARCH SERIES NO. 38** 

Equal opportunities, employee attitudes and workplace performance: findings from WERS 1998

MARCH 2008

#### EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS RESEARCH SERIES NO. 38

## Equal opportunities, employee attitudes and workplace performance: findings from WERS 1998

BY

JOHN FORTH & ANA RINCON-AZNAR
NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL RESEARCH

#### **About EMAR**

Employment Market Analysis and Research (EMAR) is a multi-disciplinary team of economists, social researchers and statisticians based in the Employment Relations Directorate of the Department for Business, Enterprise and Regulatory Reform.

Our role is to provide the evidence base for good policy making in employment relations, labour market and equality and discrimination at work. We do this through:

- Conducting periodic benchmark surveys
- Commissioning external research reports
- Conducting in-house research and analysis
- Assessing the regulatory impact of new employment laws
- Monitoring and evaluating the impact of government policies

We publicly disseminate the results of this research through the BERR Employment Relations Research Series and other publications. For further details of EMAR's work, including PDF versions of all our publications, please see our web pages at:

http://www.berr.gov.uk/employment/research-evaluation

## About this publication

The project manager for this report was Jane Carr, Senior Research Officer in the EMAR branch.

Published in March 2008 by the Department for Business, Enterprise and Regulatory Reform. © Crown Copyright 2008

URN 08/575 ISBN 978-0-85605-707-6

This report can be ordered at: http://www.berr.gov.uk/publications

Click the 'Browse by subject' button, then select 'Employment Relations Research'. Alternatively, call the BERR Publications Orderline on 0845 015 0010 (+44 845 015 0010) and quote the URN, or email them at: publications@berr.gsi.gov.uk

Enquiries should be addressed to emar@berr.gsi.gov.uk or to:

Employment Market Analysis and Research
Department for Business, Enterprise and Regulatory Reform
Bay 4107
1 Victoria Street
London SW1H 0ET
UNITED KINGDOM

The views expressed in this report are the authors' and do not necessarily reflect those of the Department or the Government.

## **Foreword**

The Department for Business, Enterprise and Regulatory Reform (BERR) leads work to create the conditions for business success through competitive and flexible markets that create value for businesses, consumers and employees. It drives regulatory reform, and works across Government and with the regions to raise levels of UK productivity. It is also be responsible for promoting choice and quality for consumers through competition policy and for ensuring an improved quality of life for employees.

As part of that work the Employment Market Analysis and Research branch (EMAR) of the Department manages a research programme to inform policy making and promote better regulation on employment relations, labour market and equality and discrimination at work issues.

This report examined the relationship between equal opportunities policies and practices and the possible benefits to organisations and disadvantaged groups. Findings were based on data from the 1998 Workplace Employee Relations Survey (WERS).

We hope you find it of interest. Electronic copies of this and other reports in our Employment Relations Research Series can be downloaded from the BERR website, and printed copies ordered online, by phone or by email. A complete list of our research series can be found at the back of this report.

Please contact us at <a href="mailto:emar@berr.gsi.gov.uk">emar@berr.gsi.gov.uk</a> if you wish to be added to our publication mailing list, or would like to receive regular email updates on EMAR's research, new publications and forthcoming events.

**Grant Fitzner** 

Director, Employment Market Analysis and Research

## Acknowledgements

We acknowledge the Department for Business, Enterprise and Regulatory Reform, the Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service, the Economic and Social Research Council and the Policy Studies Institute as the sponsors of the 1998 Workplace Employee Relations Survey and the UK Data Archive as the distributors of the data. The authors remain solely responsible for the interpretation of the data and for any errors.

## Contents

Foreword	i
Acknowledgements	ii
Contents	iii
List of Tables	iv
Executive summary	v
Introduction	1
Research methodology	8
Results	
Concluding remarks	18
References	20
Annex A: Equal opportunities questions in WERS98	22
Annex B: Tables of results	24
Annex C: Baseline models	47
Employment Relations Research Series	80

## **List of Tables**

Table 1	Prevalence of equal opportunities policies and practices in Britain	5
Table B1	Employee attitudes (non-managerial employees)	24
Table B2	Workplace-level outcomes (private sector)	26
Table B3	Control variables used in analysis of employee- level outcomes	27
Table B4	Control variables used in analysis of workplace- level outcomes	32
Table B5	Equal opportunities indicators used in analysis of employee workplace-level outcomes	35
Table B6	Impact of equal opportunities policies and practices on relationship between employees and managers, by gender	37
Table B7	Impact of equal opportunities policies and practices on organisational attachment, by gender	39
Table B8	Impact of equal opportunities policies and practices on relationship between employees and managers, by ethnicity	41
Table B9	Impact of equal opportunities policies and practices on organisational attachment, by ethnicity	43
Table B10	Impact of equal opportunities policies and practices on relationship between employees and managers, by disability	45
Table B11	Impact of equal opportunities policies and practices on organisational attachment, by disability	46
Table C1	Baseline models of employees perceptions of fairness	47
Table C2	Baseline models of employees perceptions of respect	52
Table C3	Baseline models of employees perceptions of the quality of relations	57
Table C4	Baseline models of employees' perception of loyalty to the organisation	63
Table C5	Baseline models of employees perceptions of shared values	68
Table C6	Baseline models of employees perceptions of pride in the organisation	73
Table C7	Baseline models of labour productivity and financial performance	78

## **Executive summary**

This report examined the relationship between the provision of equal opportunities and practices and attitudes of disadvantaged groups towards the organisation for which they work. It also examined the relationship between equal opportunity provision and practices and the benefits to businesses in terms of labour productivity and financial performance.

The findings were somewhat mixed. They support the notion that the presence of equal opportunities may have a positive impact on some attitudes for both ethnic minority and disabled employees. These findings however did not hold for female employees.

The impact on businesses was also somewhat equivocal. Higher productivity was associated with the presence of an equal opportunities policy, but lower productivity was associated with equal opportunity monitoring practices. There was little evidence to suggest that equal opportunity policies affected financial performance (either positively or negatively).

#### Aims and objectives

This paper aimed to look at the relationship between the provision of equal opportunities and the benefits to businesses and disadvantaged groups. Analysis was based on examining the association between equal opportunity activities and outcomes on two levels: the level of the individual employee and the level of the employing establishment. Employee level outcomes included: the quality of employee-management relations; satisfaction with the respect received from managers; perceived degree of fair treatment by managers; and the level of attachment of the employee to the organisation (eg sharing the values and degree of loyalty towards the organisation). Employer level outcomes were based on managers' subjective ratings of labour productivity and financial performance at their establishment.

#### Equal opportunities and disadvantaged groups

The findings in relation to equal opportunities practices and policies and outcomes for disadvantaged groups were somewhat mixed. However a number of positive associations were observed between the presence of equal opportunity practices and employee level outcomes for ethnic minorities and disabled employees, particularly in respect of the relationship between management and employees. EO practices were also positively associated with attachment to the workplace for ethnic employees. No significant associations were observed when looking at the association between equal opportunities policies and these same outcomes for females.

## Equal opportunities and workplace outcomes: productivity and financial performance

Hypotheses in connection with economic benefits were only partially supported. There was an association between higher productivity levels and non-specified equal opportunity policies but lower productivity was associated with equal opportunity monitoring activities. There was little evidence to suggest that EO policies affected financial performance (either positively or negatively) based on the limited analysis that was possible.

#### **Limitations of this study**

There were a number of limitations to this study. Firstly analysis was based on cross-sectional data and direction of causality between the variables and outcomes measured cannot be determined reliably. Secondly many factors will impact on labour productivity and financial performance and the WERS 1998 data does not capture all of the possible variables that might be influential in this respect. Thirdly the data contains only a small number of questions on the nature of equal opportunities policies and practices at the sampled workplaces. These issues could not be fully addressed in the current study but highlight issues for further attention in any subsequent research

#### **About this project**

This research was commissioned by the Department of Trade and Industry, as part of its employment relations research programme. Publication of the report was unfortunately delayed. The Department for Business, Enterprise and Regulatory Reform publishes it as a contribution to the evidence base on equality at work.

The report is based on a secondary analysis of the 1998 Workplace Employee Relations Survey (WERS). This was a nationally representative survey of workplaces with 10 or more employees covering all sectors except agriculture and mining. It included both private and publicly-owned establishments. The survey involved two elements: firstly a face-to-face interview with managers in 2,191 workplaces, and secondly a self-completion employee questionnaire distributed to a simple random sample of 25 employees in each of workplaces where a management interview had been achieved, yielding a total of 28,237 employee questionnaire returns.

#### About the authors

John Forth and Ana Rincon-Aznar both work at the National Institute of Economic and Social Research (NIESR). John Forth holds the position of Research Fellow; Ana Rincon-Aznar holds the position of Research Officer.

#### CHAPTER ONE

## Introduction

#### Introduction

Existing analysis of survey data indicates that around three-quarters of all workplaces in Great Britain with 10 or more employees have a formal, written policy on the provision of equal opportunities within their establishment (Kersley et al, 2006). As attempts are made to increase the proportion of employers that actively support equal opportunities, and to make existing policies more effective, there is an increasing emphasis on the impact of such practices. Nevertheless, robust, quantitative evidence on the impact of equality initiatives is remarkably scarce.

A small amount of quantitative research does exist to show that equal opportunities initiatives are effective in promoting equal treatment (see, for example, Noon and Hoque, 2001). But much of the existing quantitative evidence on the broader impact of equal opportunities attempts to associate policies or practices with distant measures of business performance such as share prices (Hersch, 1991; Wright et al, 1995). In such studies, it is usually impossible to account for the vast array of other factors that may impact upon such aggregate measures of performance, creating the risk of identifying spurious correlations. The more detailed, case-study evidence often focuses on more immediate outcomes, but is also partial since it is commonly restricted to the experience of large organizations (see, for example: Rutherford and Ollerearnshaw, 2002; Metcalf and Forth, 2000). In consequence, there is a lack of representative and reliable quantitative evidence on the broader impact of equal opportunities at workplace level.

This short study represented an attempt to investigate this area using data from the 1998 Workplace Employee Relations Survey (WERS98). We looked first at the association between equal opportunities initiatives and certain aspects of an employee's relationship with their employer and at the association with their degree of organizational attachment. We then examined the association between equal opportunities initiatives and some broader workplace-level outcomes, namely levels of labour productivity and financial performance.

#### **Context**

The principle of equal opportunity is widely advocated among policy-makers and practitioners in the field of employment in Britain. Legislation to outlaw employment discrimination on the basis of gender or marital status was introduced in 1975 and similar legislation to outlaw discrimination in respect of race followed one year later. Discrimination on the basis of disability finally became unlawful in 1995, although a quota system intended to promote the employment of disabled people had been in place since the 1940s. Alongside

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Anti-discrimination legislation has more recently been extended to cover religious belief, sexual orientation and age. However, we focus our discussion on the three areas that were covered by legislation at the time of the 1998 WERS survey, which forms the basis for our analysis.

legislative initiatives, a number of non-departmental government bodies also work to promote the principles of equality of opportunity and to combat discrimination. The introduction of legislation and the activities of these various equality-focused organizations have undoubtedly enhanced the employment opportunities available to women, ethnic minorities and disabled people. However, levels of participation and achievement still remain unequal. For instance, women have a lower employment rate than men and, within employment, are also less likely to progress to the upper levels of the occupational hierarchy. Women are also found to earn less than men, even after one controls for a variety of personal and job characteristics (Anderson et al, 2001). Similar pictures emerge for ethnic minorities and disabled people.<sup>2</sup>

There are a variety of supply-side factors which go some way towards explaining these patterns. As we have already noted, family responsibilities are a barrier to participation for some women. Differences in the stock of education inhibit equality among ethnic minorities and whites, although students from some ethnic minority groups are now registering higher levels of achievement than whites.

However, demand-side factors also play their part in sustaining inequality. One such factor is the unequal provision of employment opportunities. This may occur through direct discrimination, which might take the form of deliberately recruiting only white employees. Or it may occur through indirect discrimination, which is less obvious. One example might be the use of promotion criteria based on length of service, rather than ability to do the job, which may disadvantage women who have had career breaks. A clear indication that employees still perceive such inequality to be present in the provision of employment opportunities is provided not least by the number of cases brought to Employment Tribunals (Employment Tribunal Service, 2007).

#### The benefits and costs of equal opportunities

The moral or ethical arguments for equality of opportunity arguably should be sufficient in themselves to persuade employers to implement effective equal opportunities policies and practices. But an emphasis has recently been placed on the more positive economic advantages of promoting equal opportunity – what are more commonly termed the 'business benefits'.

Although the focus on business benefits may be criticised for diverting attention from the moral arguments, many believe that an emphasis on the economic advantages represents the most effective means of encouraging employers to actively promote equality of opportunity in the future (see, for example, Ross and Schneider, 1992).

The benefits to employers of promoting equality of opportunity may be summarised under the following headings.

#### Enhanced supply of labour:

\_

One of the most frequently cited benefits of promoting equality of opportunity is that it provides the employer with access to a larger pool of labour. Any form of discrimination in the recruitment process will inevitably reduce the number of potential applicants for a particular post. In addition, discrimination in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See Twomey (2001, 2002) and Smith and Twomey (2002). The general patterns remain evident in more recent survey data.

promotion process will also limit the supply of talent to higher levels of the organization. By ensuring that recruitment and promotion is based solely upon ability, equal opportunity policies and practices can help to reduce labour shortages and improve the quality of the workforce, and thereby have a positive impact on overall levels of productivity.

## Enhanced relations with employees and employee attachment to organisation:

To the extent that equal opportunities initiatives reduce or eliminate discrimination and unfair treatment, they can assist in reducing grievances and improving relations within the organization. Such outcomes may have a knock-on effect in reducing absenteeism and labour turnover, by enhancing employees' attachment to the organization. Again this may have a positive impact on levels of labour productivity, and could also reduce labour costs.

#### Enhanced creativity within the organisation:

If the provision of equal opportunities leads to a more diverse workforce, the introduction of employees with different perspectives could have a positive impact on levels of creativity and therefore lead to better problem solving and decision making. One might therefore expect the provision of equal opportunities to lead to enhanced product or service quality and, again, higher levels of productivity.

#### Market success:

Finally, a more diverse workforce may also enable an organization to better serve its existing customer base through: an improved ability to identify their needs; a greater capacity to adapt to differences in language and culture; and an increased degree of legitimacy with existing customers from diverse backgrounds. In these ways, a more diverse workforce may also help the organization to widen its customer base, thereby increasing sales.

#### Penalty avoidance:

Finally, the costs of being found in breach of anti-discrimination legislation should also provide a strong impetus for employers to promote equality of opportunity, not least because compensation awards in discrimination cases have no upper limit and tend to substantially exceed the value of awards in other cases.

Having listed some of the potential benefits, it is important to recognise, however, that the promotion of equal opportunities may also generate costs for an employer. These potential costs may be summarised as follows:

#### Implementation, monitoring and training costs:

Effective equal opportunities policies and practices are likely to reduce the likelihood of the employer being found in breach of anti-discrimination legislation. However, there are clearly management and administration costs involved in the development and implementation of equal opportunities policies and practices. These include the costs of: compiling and disseminating new policies and procedures; replacing discriminatory employment practices; and equalising pay and conditions. Equally, there are costs involved in the monitoring of processes such as recruitment and promotion, and in the training of staff to promote awareness of equal opportunities issues.

#### Potential misunderstandings and conflict:

Whilst greater diversity in the workforce may promote creativity, it may also create difficulties in reaching consensus. Furthermore, diversity may increase the potential for misunderstandings and conflict, since employees are less likely to share the same knowledge, values and assumptions.

#### Dangers of tokenism:

There is a risk that the introduction of a partial or ineffective approach to equal opportunities may have an adverse affect on motivation and job satisfaction among disadvantaged groups if the new approach is viewed as toothless or as merely a sign of tokenism.

Naturally, if equality of opportunity can be implemented effectively so that the benefits outweigh any potential costs, the provision of equal opportunities can also be expected to contribute to increased organizational competitiveness and improved financial performance. Yet it is clear that organizations' attempts to promote equal opportunities take many different forms. And it is argued that certain approaches are more effective than others in securing real equality of opportunity - and hence the accompanying benefits.

#### The practice of equal opportunities

A number of authors in the field emphasise the importance of adopting an approach to equal opportunities that is strategic, systematic and comprehensive (Ross and Scheider, 1992; Jewson et al, 1995; Kandola and Fullerton, 1998). The approach promoted by these authors has the following common features:

- Assessment of needs requiring an examination of workforce statistics, personnel policies and the prevailing organizational culture
- Clarity of objectives requiring a clear vision of what the organization intends to achieve
- Clear accountability and effective communication requiring top management commitment and ownership of the policy throughout the organization
- Co-ordinated activity requiring the integration of equal opportunities into the full range of business practices and the provision of appropriate training
- Evaluation requiring progress to be monitored and evaluated.

Unfortunately, it is unclear as to how prevalent this 'ideal' approach is in practice. The series of Workplace Employee Relations Surveys (WERS) is the most comprehensive source of reliable and representative survey data on employment practices in Britain. The 1998 survey, which we use in this study, was the first in the series to include questions on the nature of equal opportunities policies and practices at the sampled establishment, but the questions were somewhat limited.<sup>3</sup> Essentially, WERS98 provides information on the following:

- Whether the establishment has a formal, written equal opportunities policy
- The areas covered by the policy (e.g. sex, race, disability, religion)

<sup>3</sup> The more recent 2004 WERS had not yet become available at the time that the analysis was undertaken.

- Whether the establishment implements practices to promote equality of opportunity (e.g. monitoring promotions, reviewing selection procedures or making adjustments to accommodate disabled employees)
- Whether the core group of non-managerial employees at the establishment have received training in equal opportunities in the last 12 months
- Whether the establishment has made any attempt to measure the effects of its equal opportunities policies on the workplace or its employees.

The precise wording of these questions is provided in Appendix A. The responses to each question are tabulated below. The first column of data in Table 1 shows the percentage of establishments with each of the policies or practices; the second column of data shows the percentage of employees that work in such establishments.

Table1. Prevalence of equal opportunities policies and practices in Britain		
	Establishments	Employees
Policy		
Any equal opportunities policy	67	80
Policy covering:		
Sex	57	73
Race	57	73
Disability	55	70
Sex, Race and Disability	54	69
Supporting practices		
Any supporting practices	50	72
Keep employee records with ethnic origin identified	30	48
Collect statistics on posts held by men and women	25	47
Monitor promotions by gender, ethnicity etc	11	25
Review selection and other procedures to identify indirect discrimination	20	39
Review the relative pay rates of different groups	14	23
Make adjustments to the workplace to accommodate disabled employees	26	50
Training		
Any training in equal opportunities in past 12 months	14	19
Evaluation		
Any attempt to measure the effects of equal opportunities policies	11	24
Source: WERS 1998  Note: * percentages are based on data from 2,191 establishments with 10 or more employees. For further descriptive information on the prevalence of equal opportunities and practices, see Anderson et al (2004)		

The questions available in WERS98 allowed us to derive indicators of the breadth and depth of equal opportunities policy and practice at the establishment. And they allowed us to identify the incidence of three of the five components of the 'ideal model': Assessment of needs (through the questions on monitoring and procedural reviews); Co-ordinated activity (through the question on training); and Evaluation (through the question on the measurement of outcomes). But they did not allow us to identify the remaining two components: Clarity of objectives and Clear accountability. In view of the emphasis placed in

the literature on the importance of each element of the ideal model this obviously represents a limitation to our study. However, there are few establishments that, even with the broad indicators provided by WERS98, can be said to be taking a comprehensive approach to equal opportunities. And indeed, at the other end of the spectrum, there are many establishments without even a formal written policy on equal opportunities. The proportion of establishments that live up to the 'ideal' model is likely to be very small indeed – possibly too small to show up in any significant numbers in a representative sample survey. Accordingly, in the absence of better data, we proceed with our (albeit limited) measures of equal opportunities in the knowledge that they do provide us with at least a basic indication of the range of equal opportunities activity across establishments.

#### **Evidence from previous research**

The existing evidence on the impact of equal opportunities policies and practices on employee attitudes and workplace performance is largely qualitative in nature. This evidence is summarized by Kandola and Fullerton (1998), Metcalf and Forth (2000) and Rutherford and Ollerearnshaw (2002), among others. The evidence itself largely consists of case studies of specific organizations that have been able to realise the some of the business benefits listed in Section 1.3. Given the qualitative nature of the evidence, it is often difficult to generalise from the experience of these, often large, organizations to the wider population of employers. In particular, there is a notable lack of quantitative evidence from representative samples of firms or workplaces.

Despite the availability of data on equal opportunities in WERS98, there has been no systematic analysis of the impact of such practices on employee attitudes using the WERS98 data as far as we are aware. Some studies have looked at job characteristics, including earnings (Anderson et al, 2001), receipt of training (Noon and Hoque, 2001) and the extent of interaction with supervisors (also Noon and Hoque, 2001), but none have looked at employee attitudes, which is our particular focus. Nevertheless, some research on employee attitudes has included indicators of equal opportunities practices as control variables in multivariate analysis that has focused primarily on other employment practices.

Dex and Smith (2001) and Gray (2002) included indicators of equal opportunities practices in their analyses of the impact of family-friendly working practices on employee commitment. Both analyses identified some positive effects on commitment for private sector employees in restricted models controlling only for employer characteristics. Dex and Smith also identified negative effects in equivalent models for public sector employees. However, when Dex and Smith added further variables to control for employee characteristics, all of these effects became non-significant at the 5% level. In a further study of employees' attitudes, Bryson (2000) included a simple indicator of whether a workplace has a formal, written equal opportunities policy in his models of employees' perceptions of fair treatment. But again the indicator was not significant at the 5% level.

There is a similar paucity of WERS-based research on the impact of equal opportunities practices on workplace performance. Perotin and Robinson (2000) is the only known example which takes this issue as its focus. Perotin and Robinson undertook a dedicated analysis of the impact of equal opportunities on the level of labour productivity and found that workplaces with a formal, written equal opportunities policy have higher levels of labour productivity than

workplaces without a policy, after controlling for other factors. But they also found that levels of productivity are lower in those establishments with an extensive range of monitoring and review practices that support equal opportunities. They suggest that this latter result may illustrate short-term disruption arising from the introduction of extensive policies, or adverse reactions from previously-advantaged groups.

Dex, Smith and Walters (2001) and Gray (2002) included indicators of equal opportunities practices as control variables in research into the impact of family-friendly working practices on labour productivity using WERS98. Gray entered separate variables to identify different equal opportunities practices and, somewhat in keeping with Perotin and Robinson, found that the monitoring of posts was negatively associated with the level of labour productivity. Dex, Smith and Walters, on the other hand, found that their composite measure of equal opportunities was not significantly related to levels of labour productivity. It is not immediately clear as to why their results should differ from those obtained in the other two studies mentioned here.

Finally, Dex, Smith and Walters (2001) and Gray (2002) also included indicators of equal opportunities practices as control variables in models of financial performance using WERS98. Again, somewhat different results were obtained. Dex, Smith and Walters found that their composite measure of equal opportunities was not significantly related to levels of financial performance. But Gray found significant positive associations with the presence of an equal opportunities policy and the review of selection procedures.

#### CHAPTER TWO

## Research methodology

#### 2.1 Aims and objectives

The research aimed to examine the association between equal opportunities activities and a number of outcomes measured at the level of the individual employee and at the level of their employing establishment. In the analysis, we controlled for other factors that were associated with the specified outcomes in order to identify the independent effects of equal opportunities policies and practices.

In the first part of our analysis, we focused our attention upon employee attitudes that may be directly influenced by the presence of effective equal opportunities policies. Our first set of employee attitudes concerned the relationship between employees and the employer. They were as follows:

- Perceived degree of fair treatment by managers
- Extent of satisfaction with the respect received from managers
- Quality of relations between managers and employees

The second set of employee attitudes concerned the level of attachment, or the commitment, of the employee to their employing organization. The three measures capture:

- Degree of loyalty to the organization
- Extent to which the employee shared the values of their organization
- Extent to which the employee was proud to say who they worked for.

If equal opportunities policies were effective in reducing or eliminating unequal treatment, minority employees who were covered by effective equal opportunities policies might be expected to give higher ratings on each of these dimensions than minority employees who were not covered by such policies. If this was found to be the case, it would provide evidence that equal opportunities policies do offer business benefits, since; all other things being equal, higher levels of employee satisfaction and commitment could be expected to reduce the likelihood of grievances, absenteeism and labour turnover.<sup>4</sup>

To the extent that equal opportunities policies may be associated with the satisfaction and commitment of employees from disadvantaged groups, as well as upon the effective use of their skills (for which no indicator was available),

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> One might suppose that it would be more appropriate to look at the direct impact of equal opportunities on the incidence of equality-related grievances, but this is not a straightforward proposition with WER98 data, since it is known that such actions are more likely to occur in establishments with formal equality policies, but are less likely to be upheld. WERS98 provides no indicators of the success of such actions. Any direct analysis of labour turnover rates and recruitment difficulties is equally problematic because of the lack of detailed information on the principal terms and conditions offered to those joining or leaving the establishment, such as pay, fringe benefits and hours of work.

such policies may also have had a positive impact on overall levels of labour productivity at establishment level. If particular equal opportunities practices were found to be positively associated with overall levels of labour productivity, this would indicate a clear business benefit. However, the nature of any association could not be taken for granted since the overall level of labour productivity within an establishment would be primarily determined by the impact of any policies on the majority group (males, white employees, those without work-limiting disabilities). Their reaction to the provision of equal opportunities could be positive or negative.

Finally, we also examined the association between equal opportunities and establishments' financial performance, using the richness of the WERS98 dataset to control for a range of intervening variables. As in the case of labour productivity, the nature of any association could not be taken for granted since the provision of equal opportunities policies may be accompanied by various additional costs in the areas of recruitment, wages and training.

#### **Data**

As we have already noted, our data is taken from the Workplace Employee Relations Survey of 1998 (Department of Trade and Industry, 1999). This nationally representative sample survey of workplaces with 10 or more employees covered all sectors except agriculture and mining and included both private and publicly-owned establishments. With appropriate weighting to compensate for the complex sampling design, these survey results can be generalised with confidence to the population of workplaces in Great Britain employing 10 or more employees in early 1998. These 340,000 or so establishments employed roughly 18.6 million employees, 82 per cent of employees in England, Scotland and Wales.

We used two linked elements of the 1998 survey for our analysis. One was the management interview, carried out face-to-face with the most senior workplace manager responsible for personnel or employee relations. The other was the survey of employees, administered within workplaces where a management interview had been achieved.

Management interviews were conducted in 2191 workplaces with a response rate of 80.4 per cent. Most of the questioning was about the workplace as a whole. However, for some practices where intra-establishment variation was anticipated, there was more focused questioning about up to nine occupational groups. Other questions were asked about only the largest occupational group. This management interview provided much detailed information about the characteristics of the workplace and the personnel practices that applied to each of the occupational groups. The interview also provided subjective indicators of the levels of labour productivity and financial performance at the establishment, relative to other workplaces in the same industry.

The WERS98 survey of employees consisted of a short, anonymous self-completion questionnaire that was distributed to a simple random sample of 25 employees (or all employees in workplaces having 10-24) in the 1880 cases (85 per cent) where management permitted it. Of the 44,283 questionnaires distributed, 28,237 (64 per cent) usable ones were returned. With some corrective weighting for non-response bias, these data can be generalised to the

population of employees in Great Britain employed in all but the very smallest workplaces. The survey provided a variety of data about the employee and their job, including the six evaluative measures outlined in Section 2.1.

Our analysis of employee attitudes was confined to non-managerial employees so as to avoid the use of data from managerial employees who may have been rating their own performance as managers in sustaining good relations with staff. The six employee-level measures are tabulated for non-managerial employees in Table B1 (see Appendix B). Across each of the six measures, it can be seen that employees are generally more likely to give positive ratings than negative ones. However, there is a good spread of positive and negative ratings across each of the six measures.

Our analysis of workplace productivity and financial performance was confined to private sector workplaces, since most public sector establishments were routed around these questions in WERS98.<sup>5</sup> In the case of financial performance, we restricted our analysis to those workplaces who defined this concept in terms of profitability or value-added (as opposed to sales, costs or some other measure). The two workplace-level measures are tabulated for private sector workplaces in Table B2. Here, it can be seen that employers are very unlikely to rate themselves "A lot below average" on either labour productivity or financial performance. This has been a feature of the responses to these subjective measures throughout the WERS series. Nevertheless, these measures are still considered valuable for the type of analysis proposed here (see Machin and Stewart, 1990, for a discussion).

#### **Estimation strategy**

As is evident from Tables B1 and B2, each of the outcomes were recorded as ordinal variables on five-point scales (e.g. Very satisfied; Satisfied; Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied; Dissatisfied; Very dissatisfied). The ordered probit regression model is the appropriate method to use in such circumstances. In each of the regressions, the independent impact of equal opportunities policies and practices was identified by the inclusion of dummy variables, with the general specification taking the following form:

$$y = \alpha + \beta X + \gamma EO + \varepsilon$$

where:

y is the outcome variable – for example the employee's rating of fair treatment or the manager's rating of the level of labour productivity – which takes ordinal values from 1 to 5, where higher values represent better ratings

X is a vector of control variables (see below)

EO are our indicators of EO policies and practices.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The analysis of employee attitudes was also conducted separately for the private sector in order to examine the sensitivity of the employee-level analysis to the exclusion of public sector employees. However, the results were not qualitatively different and so we present the results for private and public sector employees combined.

The regressions of employee attitudes were estimated separately for different groups (i.e. male and female, ethnic minorities and whites, disabled and non-disabled) in order to establish whether policies affect only disadvantaged groups.

All of the analysis accounts for the complex sample design of the WERS98, which incorporated variable probability sampling at both the establishment and employee levels and, in the case of the employee survey, the use of a cluster sampling methodology.

#### **Control variables**

The WERS98 dataset contained a wide range of information on each employee, their job and their employing establishment, enabling us to account for many of the factors that may be correlated both with the listed outcomes and with the presence of equal opportunities policies and practices.

The control variables we used in our models of employee-level outcomes (respect, fair treatment, quality of relations and our three measures of organizational attachment) can be grouped under the following headings:

- Employee characteristics
  - e.g. gender, ethnicity, disability, age, education
- Job characteristics
  - e.g. occupation, tenure, hours, earnings, receipt of training, availability of family-friendly working arrangements
- Human resource practices
  - e.g. consultation and communication practices, unionisation, payment systems, grievance procedures, fringe benefits
- Workplace characteristics
  - e.g. number of employees, ownership, workforce composition, industry sector, region

The full list of control variables that we used in our employee models is shown in Table B3.

The control variables we used in our models of workplace-level outcomes (labour productivity and financial performance) were comprised of those listed under the latter two headings. These variables are presented in Table B4.

Nevertheless, whilst many of the factors that may impact upon the listed outcome measures can be controlled for, the WERS dataset does not offer sufficiently detailed information to fully capture all of the possible influences. For instance, one might expect employees who are highly motivated by monetary incentives to report low levels of organizational attachment to their employer, all other things being equal. WERS98 provides no information on employees' intrinsic motivations. Similarly, the WERS98 data do not provide controls for capital intensity and quality, both of which are likely to be important in determining labour productivity. The possibility of omitted variable bias must therefore be acknowledged.

#### **Equal opportunities indicators**

In order to provide a practical basis for analysis, we generated a number of composite indicators of equal opportunities policy and practice from the numerous indicators presented in Table 1.

Our models began by utilising a number of separate variables which indicated the presence of policies and procedures that related to a particular disadvantaged group, taking women, ethnic minorities and disabled people in turn. We then utilised variables which identified workplaces with a comprehensive approach to equal opportunities in respect of the particular disadvantaged group in question. This comprehensive approach is defined as the combined presence of a written policy, supporting practices and equality training, plus measures to evaluate their effectiveness.

Each of the indicators discussed here, and used in our models, is presented in Table B5.

#### CHAPTER THREE

## Results

#### **Summary of analysis**

We begin by reporting on the results from our analysis of the six indicators of employee attitudes, which can be sub-divided into two groups:

Indicators of the relationship between employees and managers:

- fair treatment from managers
- respect from supervisors/ line managers
- quality of relations between managers and employees

Indicators of the degree of organisational attachment:

- loyalty to the organization
- shared values with the organization
- pride in the organization.

The associations between these outcomes and our various measures of equal opportunities practices are presented in Tables B6-B11. For each measure, we present separate models for all employees, females, males, ethnic minorities, whites, disabled people and non-disabled people. Inevitably, the small samples sizes for ethnic minorities and disabled people mean that the coefficients for these two groups were somewhat less well defined.

We then turn to our two workplace-level outcomes:

- labour productivity
- financial performance.

The associations with our various measures of equal opportunities practices are presented in Table B12.

For both strands of the analysis, the baseline models containing the full sets of control variables are presented in Appendix C. These control variables are omitted from the tables in Appendix B for brevity. The coefficients on the control variables in the various baseline models were broadly in line with those obtained in previous studies (e.g. Bryson, 2000; Bryson and Wilkinson, 2001; Dex and Smith, 2001).

#### Equal opportunities in respect of gender

Table B6 presents the results from the regressions (by gender) of employee satisfaction with the degree of fair treatment they receive from supervisors and line managers, the amount of respect they received and the quality of relations with managers. Table B7 presents the results in respect of employees' ratings of organisational attachment.

Table B6 shows few significant associations between these ratings and measures of equal opportunities practices in respect of gender. The only significant associations are: first, a positive association between the presence of a non-specific equal opportunities policy and perceived fairness, but then only among men; and second, a positive association with the combined practice of both collecting statistics and reviewing employment procedures, but then only in the 'all employees' model for perceived respect. In the latter case, splitting the sample of employees by gender renders the association non-significant among both men and women, something which seems to be due to the drop in sample sizes rather than any substantial change in the coefficients.

Moving on to the models of organisational attachment, we find substantially more statistically significant associations. But the pattern of results remains somewhat puzzling. First, we find that men give higher ratings on the 'loyalty' item if their workplace has equal opportunities practices unrelated to gender (i.e. relating to ethnicity or disability), or if their workplace reviews employment procedures to identify sex discrimination. Second, men give higher ratings on the 'loyalty' item if their workplace pursues a comprehensive approach in respect of gender equality, involving an EO policy, practices, training and evaluation. There are no statistically significant positive associations between the EO indicators and women's ratings of organisational attachment. There are, however, some negative associations – among both men and women – with a workplace having actively evaluated its EO policies and procedures.

#### Equal opportunities in respect of ethnicity

Tables B8 and B9 present the associations between employees' attitudes and equal opportunities practices in respect of ethnicity. The results were more intuitive in so much as the statistically significant positive associations were concentrated among the ethnic minority sub-sample, rather than among whites.<sup>7</sup>

For ethnic minorities, there were a number of positive associations with specific equal opportunities practices relating to ethnicity, such as the collection of ethnicity statistics. The use of equal opportunities training was also positively associated with ethnic minorities' ratings of fairness, respect and managerial relations (although it was not associated with organisational attachment). A comprehensive approach to EO in respect of ethnicity - involving a specific EO policy, targeted practices, training and evaluation – was associated with higher ratings of 'loyalty' and 'pride in the organisation'. Finally, across all measures there was a consistent positive association for ethnic minorities with the presence of a non-specific equal opportunities policy, although this was somewhat counterintuitive as there was no positive association with the presence of an equal opportunities policy that specifically cited race, except in the case of 'shared values'.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Given the large sample sizes, we focus the discussion on coefficients that are at least statistically significant from zero at the 5 per cent level.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Given the relative sample sizes, we focus on coefficients that are at least statistically significant from zero at the 5% per cent level for whites, but significant at 10% for ethnic minorities.

#### Equal opportunities in respect of disability

Tables B10 and B11 present the associations between employees' attitudes and equal opportunities practices in respect of disability. <sup>8</sup>

The results presented in B10 were interesting. Disabled employees' ratings of fairness and managerial relations were higher in the presence of an equal opportunities policy that explicitly cited disability. However, the fact of having made adjustments to accommodate employees with disabilities was unrelated to disabled employees' attitudes, as were the indicators of EO training and evaluation and the comprehensive measure of EO practice.

Turning to organisational attachment in B11, the presence of an EO policy that explicitly cited disability was positively associated with 'loyalty'. Otherwise, the results were mixed. As in Tables B7 and B9, we generally saw a negative association between organisational attachment and a workplace having evaluated their EO measures. And turning to look at the associations with a comprehensive approach to EO in respect of disability, the only statistically significant associations were positive ones found among the non-disabled group. The coefficient within the disabled group in respect of 'loyalty' was positive and larger than the coefficient for the non-disabled group, but was non-significant because of the smaller sample, whilst the coefficients within the disabled group on 'shared values' and 'pride' were negative (although similarly non-significant).

#### Summary of equal opportunities and disadvantaged groups

Summarising the results for the three measures that were concerned with the relationship between managers and employees, there were a small number of findings that supported the notion that equal opportunities could have a tangible impact on the attitudes of employees from traditionally-disadvantaged groups. Among ethnic minorities, we found a positive association with the collection of ethnicity statistics and with the delivery of EO training at the workplace. We also found a positive association among disabled employees with the presence of an EO policy that explicitly covered disability. However, there were no equivalently supportive results in respect of EO policies concerning gender equality and there are many other non-significant associations in the tables of results.

Summarising the results for the three measures of organisational attachment, we found that the presence of a specific EO policy was positively associated with 'shared values' among ethnic minorities and with 'loyalty' among disabled employees. Targeted EO practices also had a positive association with 'loyalty' among ethnic minorities, but they also exhibited some positive associations among whites, non-disabled employees and men. A similarly unexpected pattern of results was found in respect of the associations between following a comprehensive approach to EO and measures of organisational attachment.

Finally, we found that employees in workplaces that had tried to measure the effectiveness of their EO approach often gave lower ratings of organisational attachment than employees in workplaces that had not tried to do so. This could be indicative of reverse causality, with those workplaces engaging in some

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Given the relative sample sizes, we focus on coefficients that are at least statistically significant from zero at the 5% per cent level for non-disabled employees, but significant at 10% for disabled employees.

evaluation of their EO policies and procedures having done so in response to apparent weaknesses or problems with their approach.

#### Workplace-level outcomes: labour productivity and financial performance

Turning our attention to broader, workplace-level outcomes, we present the results of our regressions of labour productivity and financial performance in Table B12. The baseline models are presented in Table C7.

In keeping with other multivariate analyses of labour productivity and financial performance based on WERS data, our models contained only small numbers of significant terms. The absence of data on capital intensity and quality, together with the presence of only partial indicators of labour quality, limited our analysis of labour productivity, whilst our analysis of financial performance was severely restricted by the absence of data on capital investments, the quality of marketing activities and so on. However, we were able to control for a wide range of employment practices that have been shown to be associated with productivity and financial performance in other studies.

The equal opportunities indicators that we used in these models took the same form as those used in our employee-level models, but we restricted ourselves to those indicators which focused on the gender aspect of equal opportunities since we expected that, among the three disadvantaged groups, it was women who would have the greatest impact on overall levels of workplace performance by virtue of their greater numbers. <sup>10</sup>

Considering the impact of EO policies on labour productivity, we found that the highest levels of productivity were found in workplaces with equal opportunities policies in which the grounds were not specified. One might speculate that these could have been workplaces with an advanced approach to equal opportunities, which focused on the full diversity of the workforce rather than particular disadvantaged groups (the so-called 'managing diversity' approach). However, on further investigation, it appeared that they had very few supporting practices and so it was more accurate to categorise them as rather limited in their approach.

We also found that workplaces which undertook monitoring activities tended to have lower levels of productivity than workplaces which did not. This is somewhat in line with Perotin and Robinson's finding that levels of labour productivity were lower in workplaces with extensive supporting practices (Perotin and Robinson, 2000). However, it is not clear in our models as to why those workplaces which only reviewed their procedures, without monitoring the composition of their workforce, or both monitored and reviewed, did not also register lower levels of productivity than workplaces which did neither.

Finally, our indicators of EO training, EO evaluation and a comprehensive approach in respect of gender equality showed no statistically significant associations with productivity.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Our focus extends to the 10 per cent level of statistical significance in view of the small sample sizes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The constraints of the study meant that we were not able to explore other options. One could, of course, develop arguments to support a different focus, say on practices targeted at ethnicity.

Turning to the models of financial performance, there were a number of positive coefficients associated with the EO indicators, but none were statistically significant. The only statistically significant association was a negative one with the use of EO training.

We should note at this point that the sample available for the analysis of financial performance was somewhat smaller than that available for the analysis of labour productivity. This would have contributed to the general absence of statistically significant associations.

#### CHAPTER FOUR

## Concluding remarks

#### **Summary**

In summary, the results of our examination of the business benefits of equal opportunities were rather mixed.

We identified a small number of positive associations between our equal opportunities indicators and our various outcomes that were in line with standard expectations. The most notable of these were perhaps: the positive associations between the presence of an EO policy and disabled employees' perceptions of the employee-manager relationship; the positive associations between EO training and ethnic minorities' perceptions of the employee-manager relationship; and the positive associations between a comprehensive EO approach and ethnic minorities' ratings of organisational attachment.

However, we have also identified a number of results which are not readily explained. In particular, we found that some aspects of EO practice were positively associated with higher levels of organisational attachment among men but not among women. And we found that some aspects of practice were positively associated with higher levels of organisational attachment among non-disabled employees but not among disabled employees.

In addition, it is noteworthy that we found no real evidence of a positive association of gender-specific policies among women, and that we found no clear positive associations between gender-specific policies and workplace performance.

#### **Conclusions**

Taken as a piece, the results of the study did not point towards any consistent and general conclusions about the impact of EO policies. However, this study is not alone in that respect. It is interesting to note that similar studies in this broad area – such as Perotin and Robinson's investigation of the link between equal opportunities and labour productivity (Perotin and Robinson, 2000) and Dex and Smith's study of the association between family-friendly working arrangements and organizational attachment (Dex and Smith, 2001) – have also yielded results which are not wholly in line with conventional expectations.

It is, of course, difficult to judge the extent to which the results reflect data limitations. One might argue that large-scale datasets, even those of such complexity and richness as WERS98, are too blunt an instrument to act as the basis for a fully robust and comprehensive examination of the impact of equal opportunities initiatives.

First, it could be argued that, in any such dataset, one will invariably lack the detail that would ideally be required to reliably identify workplaces in which either unfair treatment or true equality of opportunity are being practiced. Improved EO measures – particularly those which identify a progressive approach across a range of disadvantaged groups – would be helpful in this regard. However, it is perfectly possible for an employer to provide equality of opportunity without

having formal policies and procedures, although one might expect that it is more difficult to do so with any degree of certainty.

Second, whilst our analysis could include many of the factors that may impact upon the listed outcome measures, the WERS dataset does not offer sufficiently detailed information to fully capture all of the possible influences. WERS98 provides no information on employees' intrinsic motivations. Similarly, the WERS98 data do not provide controls for capital intensity and quality, both of which are likely to be important in determining labour productivity. The possibility of omitted variable bias must therefore be acknowledged.

Third, one might also argue that it is always likely to be difficult to separately identify the independent impact of equal opportunities practices from the impact of other employment practices or subtle contextual factors which will inevitably be difficult to measure. One must also acknowledge that any such analysis which relies only on cross-section data does run a risk that the results will be subject to simultaneity bias, meaning that the direction of causality cannot always be reliably determined. For example, it may prove easier for managers to introduce and sustain equality initiatives in establishments with above-average productivity. With the cross-section data that we have available to us, we can therefore only establish whether robust associations exist; one is left to speculate as to the direction of causality. The cross-sectional nature of the employee data also raises the prospect of selection bias, whereby employees from disadvantaged groups either avoid or leave unfair workplaces. These issues can only be properly addressed with longitudinal data or by employing sophisticated econometric techniques. Neither approach was feasible within the confines of the present study.

The results of some existing case studies clearly suggest that equal opportunities initiatives can yield economic benefits for businesses in certain situations. But our quantitative exploration, across a small number of dependent variables and utilising a rich, but limited data set, has provided only partial evidence in support of this notion.

## References

Anderson T, Forth J, Metcalf H and Kirby S (2001) *The Gender Pay Gap*, London: Women and Equality Unit (Cabinet Office).

Anderson T, Millward N and Forth J (2002) Discrimination on the Basis of Race, Age, Religion or Sexual Orientation: Secondary Analysis of WERS98, London: NIESR.

Bryson A (2000) "Have British workers lost their voice, or have they gained a new one?" Research Discussion Paper No. 2, Policy Studies Institute.

Bryson A and Wilkinson D (2001) Collective Bargaining and Workplace Performance: An Investigation using the Workplace Employee Relations Survey 1998, Employment Relations Research Series No. 12, Department of Trade and Industry.

Department of Trade and Industry (1999) 1998 Workplace Employee Relations Survey: Cross-Section, [computer file], Colchester: UK Data Archive [distributor].

Dex S and Smith C (2001) "Employee commitment as an outcome of family-friendly policies? Analysis of the Workplace Employee Relations Survey", Judge Institute of Management Studies Workplace Paper No. 20/2001, University of Cambridge.

Dex S, Smith C and Walters S (2001) "Effects of family-friendly policies on business performance", Judge Institute of Management Studies Workplace Paper No. 22/2001, University of Cambridge.

Employment Tribunal Service (2007) Employment Tribunal and EAT Statistics (GB), 1<sup>st</sup> April 2006 – 31<sup>st</sup> March 2007. London: Employment Tribunal Service.

Goward P (1999), 'Fair play is better business', Business Review Weekly, 1 March 1999.

Gray H (2003) "Family-friendly working: what a performance! An analysis of the relationship between the availability of family-friendly policies and establishment performance", London School of Economics, Centre for Economic Performance, Discussion Paper No. 529.

Hersch J (1991) "Equal employment opportunity law and firm profitability", *Journal of Human Resources*, 26, 1: 139-53.

Jewson N, Mason D, Drewitt A and Rossiter W (1995) Formal Equal Opportunities Policies and Employment Best Practice, Research Report No. 69, London: Department for Education and Employment.

Kandola R and Fullerton J (1998) *Diversity in Action: Managing the Mosaic*, 2<sup>nd</sup> edition, London: Institute of Personnel and Development.

Kersley B, Alpin C, Forth J, Bryson A, Bewley H, Dix G, Oxenbridge S (2006), Inside the Workplace: Findings from the Workplace Employment Relations Survey, Routledge, Oxon.

Machin S and Stewart M (1990) "Unions and the financial performance of British private sector establishments", Journal of Applied Econometrics, Vol 5, pp. 327-50.

Metcalf H and Forth J (2000) Business Benefits of Race Equality at Work, Department for Education and Skills Research Report No. RR17, London: DfES.

Noon M and Hoque K (2001) "Ethnic minorities and equal treatment: the impact of gender, equal opportunities policies and trade unions", *National Institute Economic Review*, No. 176, April, pp.105-116.

Perotin V and Robinson A (2000) "Employee participation and equal opportunities practices: productivity effect and potential complementarities", *British Journal of Industrial Relations*, 38, 4: 557-584.

Ross R and Schneider R (1992) From Equality to Diversity: A Business Case for Equal Opportunities, London: Pitman Publishing.

Rutherford S and Ollerearnshaw S (2002) The Business of Diversity, Andover: Schneider-Ross.

Women and Equality Unit (2003) *Business Case for Diversity and Equality*, London: Department of Trade and Industry.

Wright P, Ferris S, Hiller J and Kroll M (1995) "Competitiveness through management of diversity: effects on stock price valuation", *Academy of Management Journal*, 38, 1: 272-87.

# Annex A: Equal opportunities questions in WERS98

These questions are taken from the WERS98 cross-section management interview schedule. It should be noted that the questions do not all follow each other in the interview schedule.

#### **IPOLICY**

Does this workplace [or organisation of which it is a part of] have a formal written policy on equal opportunities or managing diversity?

- 1. Yes
- 2. No

If policy

#### IGROUN01-IGROUN10^\*

Does the policy specifically address equality of treatment or discrimination on any of the grounds listed on this card? Are there any others?

- 1. Sex/Gender
- 2. Ethnic minority or Racial groups
- 3. Religion
- 4. Marital status
- 5. Disability
- 6. Age
- 7. Sexual orientation
- 8. Trade Union membership
- 9. Any other type of discrimination
- 10. None of these

If policy

#### **IMEASUR**

Have you tried to measure the effects of your equal opportunities policies on the workplace or on the employees at this establishment?

- 1. Yes
- 2. No

#### **IPRACTI1-IPRACTI7^\***

Can you tell me whether any of the things on this list are done or apply at this workplace?

- 1. Keep employee records with ethnic origin identified
- 2. Collect statistics on posts held by men and women
- 3. Monitor promotions by gender, ethnicity etc.
- 4. Review selection and other procedures to identify indirect discrimination
- 5. Review the relative pay rates of different groups
- 6. Make adjustment to the workplace to accommodate disabled employees
- 7. None of these

If any experienced employees in the largest non-managerial occupation have received formal off-the-job training in the last 12 months

#### CHOW01-CHOW10^\*

Did this training cover any of the matters listed on this card?

- 1. Computing skills
- 2. Team working
- 3. Improving communication
- 4. Operation of new equipment
- 5. Customer service/liaison
- 6. Health and safety
- 7. Problem-solving methods
- 8. Equal opportunities
- 9. Reliability and working to deadlines
- 10. Quality control procedures
- 11. None of these

## Annex B: Tables of results

#### Table B1 Employee attitudes (non-managerial employees only)

	Unweighted	Weighted
How good would you say managers here are at treating employees fairly?		
Very good	12	12
Good	39	39
Neither good nor poor	27	27
Poor	13	13
Very poor	9	10
Total number of observations	24,143	
How satisfied are you with the respect you get from supervisors / line managers?		
Very satisfied	14	14
Satisfied	44	44
Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied	21	21
Dissatisfied	13	13
Very dissatisfied	9	9
Total number of observations	24,566	
In general, how would you describe relations between managers and employees here?		
Very good	14	15
Good	39	38
Neither good nor poor	27	27
Poor	13	13
Very poor	6	6
Total number of observations		
Do you agree or disagree with the statement: "I feel loyal to my organization"?		
Strongly agree	14	14
Agree	50	50
Neither agree nor disagree	24	24
Disagree	8	8
Strongly disagree	3	3

Total number of observations	24,375	
Do you agree or disagree with the statement: "I share many values of my organization"?		
Strongly agree	8	7
Agree	43	42
Neither agree nor disagree	35	35
Disagree	12	12
Strongly disagree	3	4
Total number of observations	23,397	
Do you agree or disagree with the statement: "I am proud to tell people who I work for"?		
Strongly agree	15	15
Agree	39	40
Neither agree nor disagree	33	32
Disagree	8	8
Strongly disagree	4	4
Total number of observations	24,390	

Table B2 Workplace-level outcomes (private sector only)

	Unweighted	Weighted
How would you assess your workplace's labour productivity [when compared with other establishments in the same industry]?		
A lot better than average	12	13
Better than average	40	37
About average for industry	42	45
Below average	5	4
A lot below average	1	1
Total number of observations	1,289	
How would you assess your workplace's financial performance [when compared with other establishments in the same industry]?		
A lot better than average	19	17
Better than average	43	42
About average for industry	31	34
Below average	6	6
A lot below average	1	1
Total number of observations	828	

Second panel restricted to those workplaces defining financial performance in terms of 'profits or value-added'.

Table B3 Control variables used in analysis of employee-level outcomes

	Unweighted	Weighted
Employee characteristics:		
Female	47	51
Ethnic minority	4	4
Disabled	6	6
Age:		
Less than 20 years old	4	6
20-24	8	8
25-29	13	13
30-39	27	27
40-49	25	24
50-59	18	18
60 or above	4	5
Highest educational qualification:		
Degree level	23	18
A-level	16	15
O-level	27	27
CSE	12	13
None	24	28
Any vocational qualifications	37	37
Job characteristics:		
Occupation:		
Professional	16	12
Assoc. Professional & Technical	10	9
Clerical and secretarial	25	20
Craft and skilled	9	11
Personal service	12	13
Sales	8	10
Operative and assembly	10	14
Other occupations	9	11
Tenure:		
Less than 1 year	17	17
1 year	13	13
2-4 years	23	23
5-9 years	22	22

10 years or more	26	26
Permanent contract	92	92
Weekly hours	36	35
Weekly earnings:		
Less than £80	12	16
£81-£180	22	24
£181-£260	24	24
£261-£360	20	18
£361-£540	17	14
£541 and above	5	4
Union member	42	40
Availability of family-friendly arrangements:		
Flexible working time or location	44	41
Parental leave or nursery	29	28
Leave for family emergencies	32	35
Guaranteed job security	16	13
Training received in past year:		
None	38	42
Less than 1 day	9	10
1 day	15	13
2-4 days	21	18
5-9 days	9	8
10 days or more	9	9
Lot of influence over range of tasks	23	23
Lot of influence over pace of work	32	32
Lot of influence over how work is done	46	45
Human resource practices:		
Number of recognised unions:		
None	39	41
One	24	23
Two or more	37	36
One-site union representation	49	50
Employee perception of whether union is taken seriously by management:		
Taken seriously	81	81
Not taken seriously	8	8
Don't know / Not answered	11	11

Non-union representative	13	14
Joint consultative committee	35	38
Formal practices for two-way, face-to-face communication	89	88
Formal practices for one-way, face-to-face communication	80	79
Information provided to employees about performance or plans	89	88
Employee relations specialist	51	54
Investors In People accredited	35	35
Profit-sharing or share ownership scheme	42	43
Employer pension scheme for non managerial employees	83	81
Health insurance for non-managerial employees	18	16
Four or more weeks' paid annual leave for non-managerials	93	91
Extra-statutory sick pay for non- managerials	79	79
Fringe benefits harmonized between managerials and non-managerials	60	56
Performance appraisals linked to training and development	76	74
Problem-solving groups	50	51
Preference for internal recruitment	35	35
Employees led to expect long tenure	72	76
Employees not expected to balance work and family life without help	9	9
Formal grievance procedure	96	96
Formal disciplinary procedure	96	95
Formal disputes procedure	66	66
Percentage of supervisors trained in people-management skills:		
60% or more	38	39
1-59%	39	37
None	15	16
No supervisors	9	8
Attitude tests in recruitment	32	34
Competency tests in recruitment	62	60
Most recent pay award for LOG:		
Higher than rest of industry	14	15
Same as rest of industry	70	69

Lower than rest of industry	11	10
Not known	6	6
Workplace characteristics:		
Number of employees (natural log)	4.8	5.1
Ownership characteristics:		
UK-owned; private sector; owner- manager	8	9
UK-owned; private sector; no owner-manager	46	46
Foreign-owned; private sector	11	14
Public sector	36	31
Single independent establishment	19	22
Age of establishment:		
Under 4 years	9	9
5-9 years	10	12
10-24 years	20	22
25 or more years	48	56
Don't know	14	
Greenfield site	6	6
Percentage of employees female	50	50
Percentage of employees part-time	25	27
Percentage of employees from ethnic minority groups	4	4
Financial performance:		
Above average for industry	50	50
At or below average for industry	35	36
No comparison possible	15	14
Industry sector:		
Manufacturing	14	23
Electricity, gas and water	4	1
Construction	5	3
Wholesale and retail	13	15
Hotels and restaurants	4	4
Transport and communications	6	6
Financial intermediation	6	4
Other business services	9	8
Public administration	10	9
Education	12	10

Health	12	13
Other community services	5	3
Region:		
East	8	9
East Midlands	8	9
London	13	10
North East	5	5
North West	10	12
Scotland	11	10
South East	16	15
South West	9	8
Wales	4	4
West Midlands	9	10
Yorkshire and Humberside	8	8
Total number of observations	24,973	

Table B4 Control variables used in analysis of workplace-level outcomes

	Unweighted	Weighted
Human resource practices:		
Number of recognised unions:		
None	61	79
One	20	15
Two or more	19	5
One-site union representation	32	11
Non-union representative	14	9
Joint consultative committee	28	14
Formal practices for two-way, face-to-face communication	86	78
Formal practices for one-way, face-to-face communication	76	66
Information provided to employees about performance or plans	85	79
Employee relations specialist	50	24
Investors In People accredited	31	28
Profit-sharing or share ownership scheme	60	45
Fringe benefits harmonized between managerials and non-managerials	44	46
Performance appraisals linked to training and development	73	57
Problem-solving groups	46	30
Multi-skilling among largest occupational group	35	36
Percentage of agency workers:		
None	62	81
Less than 5 per cent	25	10
5 per cent or more	12	9
Any employees on short-term contracts	35	19
Percentage of employees in higher-skilled occupations	37	39
Team working among largest occupational group	63	51
Training for largest occupational group in last year:		
None	18	32
Less than 2 days	31	25
2 days or more	51	43
Paternity leave available	52	38
Flexible working patterns available	58	46
Parental leave or childcare assistance available	38	28
Core employees have lot of variety in their work	37	46
Core employees have lot of discretion over working methods	20	29

Core employees have lot of control over work pace	20	26
Employees led to expect long-term employment	74	79
Employees not expected to balance work and family without help	6	5
Workplace characteristics:		
Number of employees (natural log)	4.7	3.4
Ownership characteristics:		
UK-owned; private sector; owner- manager	14	22
UK-owned; private sector; no owner-manager	70	68
Foreign-owned; private sector	16	10
Single independent establishment	25	39
Age of establishment:		
Under 4 years	10	11
5-9 years	13	19
10-24 years	25	23
25 or more years	39	31
Don't know	14	16
Greenfield site	7	6
Percentage of employees female	46	50
Percentage of employees part-time	25	30
Percentage of employees from ethnic minority groups	5	4
Occupation of core employees:		
Professional	8	7
Assoc. professional & Technical	7	5
Clerical & Secretarial	15	16
Craft & Skilled	14	16
Personal Service	7	10
Sales	16	21
Operative & Assembly	19	14
Routine unskilled	13	12
Number of competitors:		
Less than five	31	29
Five or more	53	56
Establishment does not trade outside organization	17	16
Industry sector:		
Manufacturing	20	17
Electricity, gas and water	5	0
Construction	5	5
Wholesale and retail	21	25

7 7 14 3	5 4 13
14	
	13
3	
	3
7	12
5	5
8	8
8	6
14	12
4	5
12	12
9	8
17	19
9	10
4	3
9	10
7	8
1513	
	7 5 8 8 8 14 4 12 9 17 9

Table B5 Equal opportunities indicators used in analysis of employee and workplace-level outcomes

	Non-managerial employees		Private sector establishments		
	Unweighted	Weighted	Unweighted	Weighted	
Policy:					
No policy	17	20	26	43	
Areas not specified	6	6	8	10	
Policy covers gender	77	75	66	47	
No policy	17	20			
Areas not specified	6	6			
Policy covers race	77	75			
No policy	17	20			
Areas not specified	5	5			
Areas specified, but not disability	5	5			
Policy covers disability	73	71			
Supporting practices:					
No supporting practices	28	28	37	59	
Practices not relating to gender	14	13	15	13	
Collects gender statistics	14	13	13	9	
Reviews procedures	11	11	12	10	
Collects gender statistics and reviews procedures	34	35	24	9	
No supporting practices	28	28			
Practices not relating to race	11	11			
Collects ethnicity statistics	17	15			
Reviews procedures	11	11			
Collects ethnicity statistics and reviews procedures	33	35			
No supporting practices	28	28			
Practices not relating to disability	23	21			
Makes adjustments for disabled people	50	51			
Training:					
Largest occupational group has	20	19	11	9	

received training in equal opportunities				
Evaluation:				
Workplace has attempted to measure the impact of its EO policies	22	24	13	5
Combinations:				
Policy covering gender + Collects gender statistics and reviews procedures + trains + evaluates	7	8	3	2
Policy covering ethnicity + Collects ethnicity statistics and reviews procedures + trains + evaluates	7	8		
Policy covering disability + Makes adjustments for disabled people + trains + evaluates	7	8		
Total number of observations	24,973		1,513	

Table B6 Impact of equal opportunities policies and practices on relationship between employees and managers, by gender

	All	Female	Male	All	Female	Male	All	Female	Male
	Fairness	Fairness	Fairness	Respect	Respect	Respect	Quality of relations	Quality of relations	Quality of relations
Policy:									
Areas not specified	0.087	-0.035	0.188**	0.067	-0.007	0.157*	0.093	0.009	0.176*
Policy covers gender	-0.013	-0.072	0.021	-0.043	-0.083	-0.011	0.003	-0.052	0.056
Practices:									
Practices not related to gender	0.068	0.078	0.022	0.06	0.052	0.061	0.085	0.049	0.086
Collects gender statistics	0.035	0.028	0.028	0.074*	0.083	0.056	0.036	0.022	0.027
Reviews procedures	-0.003	-0.037	0.017	0.021	-0.017	0.045	0.019	-0.014	0.026
Collects gender statistics and reviews procedures	0.076*	0.05	0.08	0.077**	0.078	0.081	0.063	0.07	0.044
EO training	0.013	-0.002	0.01	0.061	0.066	0.026	0.065	0.064	0.04
EO evaluation	-0.03	-0.029	-0.004	-0.036	0.019	-0.071	-0.015	-0.013	0.004
Policy covering gender + Collects gender statistics and reviews procedures + trains + evaluates	0.044	0.077	0.02	-0.002	0.019	0	0.04	0.017	0.077
Observations	17496	8886	8610	17793	9087	8706	17670	8997	8673

F statistic		19.347	10.805	13.174	23.481	11.779	14.845	23.947	12.132	14.197
-------------	--	--------	--------	--------	--------	--------	--------	--------	--------	--------

<sup>\*</sup> significant at 10%; \*\* significant at 5%; \*\*\* significant at 1%

Table B7 Impact of equal opportunities policies and practices on organisational attachment, by gender

	All	Female	Male	All	Female	Male	All	Female	Male
	Loyalty	Loyalty	Loyalty	Shared values	Shared values	Shared values	Pride	Pride	Pride
Policy:									
Areas not specified	0.023	-0.029	0.081	0.009	-0.09	0.107	0.046	0.01	0.078
Policy covers gender	-0.01	-0.058	0.001	-0.024	-0.086	-0.002	-0.006	-0.052	0.014
Practices:									
Practices not related to gender	0.120***	0.083	0.133**	0.084**	0.073	0.076	0.079*	0.062	0.081
Collects gender statistics	0.044	0.066	0.032	0.042	0.072	0.014	0.014	0.046	-0.011
Reviews procedures	0.081*	0.031	0.123**	0.087*	0.017	0.142**	0.07	0.028	0.105*
Collects gender statistics and reviews procedures	0.049	0.022	0.081	0.049	0.057	0.055	0.036	0.049	0.04
EO training	-0.006	-0.022	-0.007	0.026	0.022	0.011	-0.015	-0.022	-0.03
EO evaluation	-0.139***	-0.137***	-0.115**	-0.076*	-0.021	-0.115**	-0.068*	-0.088	-0.04
Policy covering gender + Collects gender statistics and reviews procedures + trains + evaluates	0.156**	0.121	0.194**	0.038	0.011	0.058	0.088	0.082	0.099
Observations	17683	9016	8667	17027	8684	8343	17654	8998	8656
F statistic	17.441	8.294	12.226	19.968	9.99	13.824	19.441	9.056	13.733

\* significant at 10%; \*\* significant at 5%; \*\*\* significant at 1%

Table B8 Impact of equal opportunities policies and practices on relationship between employees and managers, by ethnicity

All	Ethnic minority	White	All	Ethnic minority	White	All	Ethnic minority	White
Fairness	Fairness	Fairness	Respect	Respect	Respect	Quality of relations	Quality of relations	Quality of relations
0.056	0.750***	0.032	0.061	0.653**	0.042	0.078	0.596**	0.061
-0.002	-0.087	-0.002	-0.039	0.247	-0.047	0.011	-0.022	0.011
0.045	-0.039	0.041	0.055	-0.271	0.061	0.071	-0.086	0.07
0.039	0.346**	0.022	0.059	0.335*	0.051	0.035	0.075	0.031
0.066	-0.251	0.067	0.084**	0.07	0.086**	0.083	-0.338	0.09
0.02	0.16	0.014	0.025	-0.064	0.029	0.012	0.04	0.01
0.005	0.281*	-0.001	0.057	0.285*	0.058	0.068	0.317*	0.064
-0.021	0.019	-0.022	-0.023	0.063	-0.029	0.002	-0.082	0.001
0.075	-0.157	0.076	0.024	-0.296	0.027	0.043	-0.039	0.042
	0.056 -0.002 0.045 0.039 0.066 0.02	Fairness Fairness  0.056	Fairness Fairness Fairness  0.056	Fairness Fairness Fairness Respect  0.056 0.750*** 0.032 0.061 -0.002 -0.087 -0.002 -0.039  0.045 -0.039 0.041 0.055 0.039 0.346** 0.022 0.059 0.066 -0.251 0.067 0.084** 0.02 0.16 0.014 0.025  0.005 0.281* -0.001 0.057  -0.021 0.019 -0.022 -0.023	Fairness Fairness Fairness Respect Respect  0.056	Fairness Fairness Fairness Respect Respect Respect  0.056	Fairness Fairness Respect Respect Respect Quality of relations  0.056 0.750*** 0.032 0.061 0.653** 0.042 0.078  -0.002 -0.087 -0.002 -0.039 0.247 -0.047 0.011  0.045 -0.039 0.346** 0.022 0.059 0.335* 0.051 0.035  0.066 -0.251 0.067 0.084** 0.07 0.086** 0.083  0.02 0.16 0.014 0.025 -0.064 0.029 0.012  0.005 0.281* -0.001 0.057 0.285* 0.058 0.068  -0.021 0.019 -0.022 -0.023 0.063 -0.029 0.002	Fairness Fairness Respect Respect Respect Quality of relations of rela

Observations	17496	643	16853	17793	673	17120	17670	660	17010
F statistic	19.034	3.922	18.82	23.761	4.979	23.143	23.897	4.311	23.412

<sup>\*</sup> significant at 10%; \*\* significant at 5%; \*\*\* significant at 1%

Table B9 Impact of equal opportunities policies and practices on organisational attachment, by ethnicity

	All	Ethnic minority	White	All	Ethnic minority	White	All	Ethnic minority	White
	Loyalty	Loyalty	Loyalty	Shared values	Shared values	Shared values	Pride	Pride	Pride
Policy:									
Areas not specified	0.007	0.442*	-0.007	0.026	0.856***	-0.001	0.015	0.745**	-0.004
Policy covers ethnicity	-0.006	0	-0.016	-0.024	0.328*	-0.035	0.002	0.136	-0.006
Practices:									
Practices not related to ethnicity	0.090*	0.729***	0.073	0.077	0.016	0.073	0.049	0.244	0.044
Collects ethnicity statistics	0.075*	0.856***	0.059	0.042	0.149	0.032	0.039	0.191	0.036
Reviews procedures	0.080*	0.331	0.075*	0.126***	0.264	0.124**	0.083*	0.095	0.084*
Collects ethnicity statistics and reviews procedures	0.049	0.764***	0.038	0.02	0.153	0.011	0.023	0.106	0.023
EO training	-0.005	0.091	-0.004	0.03	-0.069	0.035	-0.013	0.169	-0.016
EO evaluation	-0.141***	-0.267*	-0.136***	-0.063	-0.097	-0.062	-0.066	0.002	-0.064
Policy covering ethnicity + Collects ethnicity statistics and reviews procedures + trains + evaluates	0.150**	0.382*	0.133*	0.037	0.035	0.037	0.083	0.416*	0.066
Observations	17683	662	17021	17027	622	16405	17654	664	16990

F statistic	17.576	3.287	17.941	19.992	4.767	20.034	19.3	3.982	19.791

<sup>\*</sup> significant at 10%; \*\* significant at 5%; \*\*\* significant at 1%

Table B10 Impact of equal opportunities policies and practices on relationship between employees and managers, by disability

	All	Disabled	Non- disabled	All	Disabled	Non-disabled	All	Disabled	Non-disabled
	Fairness	Fairness	Fairness	Respect	Respect	Respect	Quality of relations	Quality of relations	Quality of relations
Policy:									
Areas not specified	0.099	0.271	0.086	0.068	-0.048	0.077	0.117	0.331	0.102
Areas specified, but not disability	0.015	0.144	0.01	-0.002	0.157	-0.015	0	0.218	-0.011
Policy specifies disability	-0.014	0.300**	-0.029	-0.048	0.101	-0.058	0.002	0.411***	-0.019
Practices:									
Practices not related to disability	0.078**	-0.014	0.077*	0.079**	0.009	0.085**	0.086*	0.046	0.091*
Makes adjustments	0.016	-0.007	0.011	0.037	0.026	0.033	0.025	-0.073	0.029
EO training	0.007	0.075	-0.009	0.065	0.093	0.061	0.065	0.155	0.047
EO evaluation	-0.018	-0.004	-0.012	-0.021	-0.068	-0.012	-0.006	0.112	-0.007
Policy covering disability + Makes adjustments + trains + evaluates	0.072	-0.255	0.087	-0.007	-0.332	0.008	0.046	-0.302	0.058
Observations	17496	1010	16486	17793	1015	16778	17670	1014	16656
F statistic	19.219	3.247	18.048	23.819	3.753	22.184	23.946	3.949	20.117

<sup>\*</sup> significant at 10%; \*\* significant at 5%; \*\*\* significant at 1%

Table B11 Impact of equal opportunities policies and practices on organisational attachment, by disability

	All	Disabled	Non-disabled	All	Disabled	Non- disabled	All	Disabled	Non-disabled
	Loyalty	Loyalty	Loyalty	Shared values	Shared values	Shared values	Pride	Pride	Pride
Policy:									
Areas not specified	0.029	0.118	0.03	0.032	-0.248	0.038	0.049	-0.022	0.054
Areas specified, but not disability	0.008	0.337	-0.005	0.097	0.032	0.103	-0.003	0.355	-0.021
Policy specifies disability	-0.017	0.370***	-0.041	-0.051	0	-0.056	-0.006	0.215	-0.021
Practices:									
Practices not related to disability	0.130***	-0.135	0.141***	0.102***	-0.250*	0.114***	0.088**	-0.116	0.101**
Makes adjustments	0.03	-0.092	0.033	0.035	-0.218	0.039	0.018	-0.129	0.025
EO training	-0.013	0.03	-0.018	0.023	0.185	0.009	-0.031	0.039	-0.042
EO evaluation	-0.143***	-0.226*	-0.140***	-0.073*	-0.137	-0.061	-0.079*	0.091	-0.085*
Policy covering disability + Makes adjustments + trains + evaluates	0.177***	0.3	0.171***	0.048	-0.232	0.047	0.134*	-0.075	0.145*
Observations	17683	1013	16670	17027	984	16043	17654	1005	16649
F statistic	17.936	3.438	17.106	20.281	4.13	18.583	19.431	3.202	18.881

<sup>\*</sup> significant at 10%; \*\* significant at 5%; \*\*\* significant at 1%

# Annex C: Baseline models

## Table C1 'Baseline' models of employees' perception of fairness

	All	Female	Male	Ethnic minorities	White	Disabled	Non-disabled
	Fairness	Fairness	Fairness	Fairness	Fairness	Fairness	Fairness
Employee characteristics:							
Female	-0.069**			-0.096	-0.058**	0.053	-0.072**
Ethnic minority	-0.089	-0.173**	-0.034			-0.287	-0.077
Disabled	-0.130**	-0.04	-0.192**	-0.436*	-0.124**		
Age:							
Less than 20	0.041	0.03	0.085	0.677**	0.027	-0.373	0.065
20 to 24 years old	0.110**	0.085	0.140**	0.127	0.106**	-0.048	0.109**
40 to 49 years old	0.034	0.039	0.034	0.202	0.022	-0.248**	0.055*
50 to 59 years old	0.164***	0.169***	0.181***	0.449**	0.153***	-0.188	0.189***
More than 60 years old	0.407***	0.372***	0.448***	1.196***	0.393***	0.419*	0.411***
Highest educational qualification:							
Degree level	-0.241***	-0.283***	-0.186***	-0.262	-0.255***	-0.638***	-0.222***
A-level	-0.175***	-0.177***	-0.164***	-0.033	-0.193***	-0.290*	-0.174***
O-level	-0.143***	-0.131***	-0.159***	-0.199	-0.152***	-0.405***	-0.127***
CSE	-0.045	0.022	-0.078	-0.381	-0.043	0.044	-0.048
Any vocational qualifications	-0.084***	-0.072**	-0.075**	-0.153	-0.077***	0.008	-0.083***

Job characteristics:							
Occupational group:							
Professional	0.035	-0.037	0.059	0.195	0.036	0.33	0.023
Assoc. professional & Technical	0.031	0.008	0.024	0.192	0.029	-0.022	0.03
Clerical & Secretarial	0.067	-0.06	0.193**	-0.319	0.081	-0.121	0.069
Craft & Skilled	-0.06	-0.006	-0.02	0.02	-0.066	-0.647***	-0.013
Personal Service	0.111**	0.011	0.179**	-0.044	0.105*	-0.231	0.139**
Sales	0.042	-0.079	0.128	0.079	0.052	-0.25	0.054
Operative & Assembly	-0.002	-0.096	0.064	-0.118	-0.003	0.028	-0.019
Tenure:							
Less than 1 year	0.507***	0.598***	0.438***	0.441*	0.515***	0.517***	0.519***
1 year	0.261***	0.355***	0.179***	0.451**	0.263***	0.139	0.278***
2-4 years	0.168***	0.193***	0.164***	0.096	0.171***	0.063	0.180***
5-9 years	0.041	0.113**	-0.02	-0.064	0.042	-0.203*	0.063*
Permanent contract	-0.05	-0.067	-0.009	-0.215	-0.042	0.08	-0.058
Weekly hours	-0.006***	-0.008***	-0.004**	0.011	-0.007***	-0.005	-0.007***
Weekly earnings:							
£81-£180	-0.08	-0.001	-0.290***	-0.256	-0.071	-0.272	-0.053
£181-£260	-0.092	0.008	-0.286**	-0.540*	-0.067	-0.193	-0.056
£261-£360	-0.021	0.108	-0.231*	-0.696**	0.016	-0.264	0.014
£361-£540	-0.018	0.043	-0.19	-1.156***	0.033	-0.23	0.023
£541 and above	0.193**	0.155	-0.005	-0.773*	0.234**	-0.366	0.240***
Union member	-0.081***	-0.077**	-0.102**	-0.005	-0.084***	-0.005	-0.081**

Flexible working time or location	0.239***	0.240***	0.235***	0.311***	0.236***	0.374***	0.234***
Parental leave or nursery	0.186***	0.207***	0.163***	0.201*	0.193***	0.214*	0.188***
Leave for family emergencies	-0.022	-0.022	-0.023	-0.121	-0.021	0.007	-0.022
Training in past year:							
1 day	0.153***	0.169***	0.132***	0.025	0.153***	0.449***	0.135***
2-4 days	0.276***	0.281***	0.274***	-0.038	0.286***	0.328**	0.273***
5-9 days	0.383***	0.378***	0.396***	0.267	0.378***	0.472***	0.384***
10 days or more	0.401***	0.391***	0.414***	-0.274	0.420***	0.402**	0.401***
Lot of influence over range of tasks	0.180***	0.183***	0.176***	0.224	0.179***	0.178	0.179***
Lot of influence over pace of work	0.052*	0.051	0.049	-0.097	0.061*	-0.125	0.063**
Lot of influence over how work is done	0.174***	0.198***	0.156***	0.163	0.173***	0.227**	0.173***
Human resource practices:							
Number of recognised unions:							
One	0.011	-0.018	0.008	-0.269	0.013	-0.143	0.016
Two or more	0.013	-0.041	0.022	-0.083	0.002	-0.184	0.017
On-site union representation	-0.047	-0.086*	0.017	0.164	-0.045	-0.027	-0.054
Employee perception of union treatment:							
Not taken seriously	-0.780***	-0.860***	-0.748***	-0.910***	-0.776***	-0.637***	-0.801***
DK/NA	-0.013	-0.047	0.008	-0.148	-0.007	0.04	-0.013
Non-union representative	0.002	0.002	0.001	-0.016	-0.002	0.07	-0.015
Joint consultative committee	0.005	0.039	-0.031	0.177	0	-0.031	0.012
Information provided to employees about performance or plans	0.041	0.067	0.037	0.769***	0.028	-0.183	0.054
ER specialist	0	-0.042	0.04	-0.058	-0.002	0.16	-0.014

Investors In People accredited	0.074***	0.085**	0.061	0.216*	0.073***	0.007	0.077***
Profit-Sharing or share ownership scheme	0.004	-0.012	-0.01	0.114	-0.003	-0.241**	0.006
Employer pension scheme for non-managerial employees	-0.027	0.083	-0.132**	0.395*	-0.039	0.132	-0.034
Extra-statutory sick pay for non-managerials	0.037	-0.007	0.083*	-0.399**	0.042	-0.224*	0.048
Fringe benefits harmonized between managerials and non-managerials	-0.009	-0.01	0.004	0.127	-0.009	0.162	-0.021
Performance appraisals linked to training and development	0.044	0.087**	0.017	-0.109	0.049	-0.002	0.044
Problem-solving groups	0.036	0	0.075**	-0.034	0.038	0.011	0.042
Preference for internal recruitment	0.032	0.05	0.025	-0.036	0.031	-0.141	0.041
Employees led to expect long tenure	0.071**	0.028	0.117***	0.193	0.072**	0.152	0.072**
Employees not expected to balance work and family without help	0.004	-0.008	0.015	0.657***	-0.009	-0.027	0.006
Formal grievance procedure	-0.053	-0.04	-0.078	-0.327	-0.05	-0.605**	-0.039
Percentage of supervisors trained in people-management skills (ref. 60% or more):							
1-59%	0.017	0.038	-0.012	0.03	0.018	0.048	0.011
None	-0.031	0.01	-0.098	0.078	-0.034	-0.166	-0.027
No supervisors	0.01	-0.044	0.061	0.056	0.016	-0.081	0.016
Attitude tests in recruitment	0.02	0.015	0.025	0.227**	0.018	-0.015	0.015
Competency tests in recruitment	-0.036	-0.044	-0.025	-0.189	-0.033	0.038	-0.034
Most recent pay award for LOG (ref: Higher than rest of industry):							
Same as rest of industry	-0.03	-0.066	0.018	0.206	-0.034	-0.047	-0.026
Lower than rest of industry	-0.118*	-0.132*	-0.082	0.236	-0.112*	-0.083	-0.116*
Not known	0.012	-0.068	0.105	0.103	0.005	0.055	0.023

Workplace characteristics:							
Number of employees (natural log)	-0.041***	-0.046**	-0.044**	-0.069	-0.039***	-0.114***	-0.031**
Ownership:							
UK-owned; private sector; owner-manager	-0.016	0.018	-0.019	0.008	-0.008	-0.542***	0.013
Foreign-owned; private sector	0.017	-0.007	0.03	-0.390**	0.024	-0.082	0.025
Public sector	0.004	0.087	-0.129*	0.276	-0.014	-0.267	0.014
Single independent establishment	0.002	-0.063	0.063	0.279*	-0.008	0.077	-0.014
Percentage of employees female	0.001	-0.001	0.002*	0.009**	0.001	-0.004	0.001
Percentage of employees part-time	0.003***	0.004***	0.001	-0.003	0.003***	0.005*	0.003***
Percentage of employees from ethnic minority groups	-0.002	-0.003	-0.001	0	-0.001	0	-0.002
Financial performance:							
Above average for industry	0.029	0.053	0.006	0.286**	0.027	-0.052	0.035
No comparison possible	0.032	0.008	0.058	0.364**	0.028	-0.178	0.041
	10100			112	17.112	1015	1.5001
Observations	18128	9246	8882	668	17460	1047	17081
F statistic	21.042	11.657	14.25	4.138	20.869	3.478	19.539

### Notes:

- 1. significant at 10%; \*\* significant at 5%; \*\*\* significant at 1%
- 2. Industry dummies (11) and region dummies (10) not reported
- 3. Non-significant controls omitted: Job security guarantees; Greenfield site; Two-way communication; One-way communication; Health insurance; 4+ weeks' paid leave; Disciplinary procedure; Disputes procedure; Establishment age

Table C2 'Baseline' models of employees' perception of <u>respect</u>

	All	Female	Male	Ethnic minorities	White	Disabled	Non-disabled
	Respect	Respect	Respect	Respect	Respect	Respect	Respect
Employee characteristics:							
Female	0.094***			0.082	0.096***	0.280**	0.085***
Ethnic minority	0.039	-0.034	0.077			-0.034	0.035
Disabled	-0.124***	-0.061	-0.170***	-0.03	-0.125**		
Age:							
Less than 20	-0.071	-0.132*	-0.026	0.361	-0.08	-0.095	-0.064
20 to 24 years old	0.011	-0.024	0.049	0.022	0.014	-0.1	0.017
40 to 49 years old	0.129***	0.153***	0.103**	0.212	0.123***	-0.052	0.138***
50 to 59 years old	0.264***	0.329***	0.213***	0.289	0.259***	-0.175	0.302***
More than 60 years old	0.603***	0.580***	0.628***	1.182***	0.592***	0.371*	0.636***
Highest educational qualification:							
Degree level	-0.318***	-0.333***	-0.318***	-0.503**	-0.323***	-0.414**	-0.316***
A-level	-0.212***	-0.185***	-0.230***	-0.386*	-0.220***	-0.449***	-0.204***
O-level	-0.196***	-0.128**	-0.268***	-0.435**	-0.201***	-0.530***	-0.175***
CSE	-0.115**	0.018	-0.213***	-0.471*	-0.116**	-0.356**	-0.089*
Any vocational qualifications	-0.02	0.008	-0.022	-0.048	-0.016	-0.012	-0.017
Job characteristics:							
Occupational group:							

Professional	0.05	0.042	0.013	-0.061	0.053	-0.002	0.063
Assoc. professional & Technical	-0.017	-0.061	-0.042	0.144	-0.023	-0.165	-0.004
Clerical & Secretarial	0.049	-0.02	0.109	-0.159	0.058	-0.123	0.061
Craft & Skilled	0.004	0.082	0.023	0.052	-0.001	-0.077	0.008
Personal Service	0.077	0.058	0.079	0.103	0.07	-0.171	0.102*
Sales	-0.023	-0.054	0.021	-0.266	-0.011	-0.407	0.002
Operative & Assembly	-0.046	-0.093	-0.015	0.227	-0.054	0.054	-0.062
Tenure:							
Less than 1 year	0.385***	0.410***	0.367***	0.375*	0.384***	0.429**	0.396***
1 year	0.158***	0.247***	0.065	0.041	0.165***	-0.355**	0.190***
2-4 years	0.086**	0.103*	0.077	-0.063	0.085**	-0.037	0.099**
5-9 years	0.017	0.03	-0.01	-0.017	0.014	-0.008	0.022
Permanent contract	-0.026	0.006	-0.02	-0.485**	-0.01	-0.062	-0.029
Weekly hours	-0.003	-0.005***	0.001	0.009	-0.003*	0.005	-0.003*
Weekly earnings:							
£81-£180	-0.133**	-0.014	-0.457***	0.078	-0.134**	-0.384**	-0.107**
£181-£260	-0.151**	-0.056	-0.410***	0.09	-0.148**	-0.709***	-0.102
£261-£360	-0.139*	0.087	-0.461***	0.02	-0.129*	-0.703**	-0.095
£361-£540	-0.128	0.036	-0.400***	-0.182	-0.111	-0.659**	-0.078
£541 and above	0.094	0.234	-0.185	0.08	0.107	-0.597	0.15
Union member	-0.113***	-0.079**	-0.135***	-0.064	-0.117***	-0.159	-0.107***
Flexible working time or location	0.212***	0.186***	0.226***	0.261***	0.209***	0.371***	0.204***
Parental leave or nursery	0.183***	0.204***	0.173***	0.320***	0.184***	0.230*	0.182***
Leave for family emergencies	-0.008	0.053	-0.049	0.086	-0.008	0.118	-0.012

Training in past year:							
1 day	0.140***	0.138***	0.141***	0.118	0.139***	0.330**	0.126***
2-4 days	0.234***	0.254***	0.216***	0.101	0.239***	0.397***	0.222***
5-9 days	0.317***	0.324***	0.315***	0.204	0.318***	0.538***	0.300***
10 days or more	0.355***	0.413***	0.309***	0.15	0.364***	0.157	0.361***
Lot of influence over range of tasks	0.253***	0.300***	0.217***	0.369***	0.248***	0.098	0.268***
Lot of influence over pace of work	0.073**	0.069*	0.071	0.144	0.075**	0.15	0.065*
Lot of influence over how work is done	0.292***	0.301***	0.291***	0.332**	0.292***	0.340***	0.288***
Human resource practices:							
Number of recognised unions:							
One	0.016	0	0.042	-0.686***	0.032	0.014	0.013
Two or more	0.017	0.025	0.017	0.012	0.012	0.051	0.015
On-site union representation	-0.01	-0.043	0	0.205	-0.014	-0.154	-0.004
Employee perception of union treatment:							
Not taken seriously	-0.687***	-0.688***	-0.692***	-0.770***	-0.685***	-0.716***	-0.690***
DK/NA	-0.087**	-0.114**	-0.072	-0.086	-0.085**	-0.146	-0.076*
Non-union representative	-0.02	-0.046	-0.004	0.121**	-0.031	0.044	-0.03
Joint consultative committee	0	0.061*	-0.049	0.134	-0.003	0.099	0.001
Information provided to employees about performance or plans	0.041	0.025	0.085	0.291	0.037	-0.072	0.048
ER specialist	0.048	0	0.096**	0.044	0.046	0.211**	0.031
Investors In People accredited	0.025	0.091***	-0.015	-0.014	0.026	-0.061	0.031
Profit-Sharing or share ownership scheme	-0.008	-0.045	0.004	-0.095	-0.011	-0.085	-0.007
Employer pension scheme for non-managerial employees	-0.021	0.049	-0.107*	-0.548**	-0.014	0.062	-0.023

Extra-statutory sick pay for non-managerials	0.036	-0.018	0.103**	0.038	0.042	-0.021	0.041
Fringe benefits harmonized between managerials and non-managerials	0.007	0.015	0.007	0.255*	0.002	-0.023	0.006
Performance appraisals linked to training and development	0.022	0.009	0.036	-0.22	0.032	0.125	0.014
Problem-solving groups	-0.003	-0.035	0.042	-0.293***	0.004	-0.01	0
Preference for internal recruitment	0.017	0.025	0.021	0.155	0.013	0.124	0.008
Employees led to expect long tenure	0.043	0.058	0.047	-0.088	0.05	-0.037	0.053*
Employees not expected to balance work and family without help	-0.017	-0.022	0.009	0.366**	-0.02	-0.205	-0.003
Formal grievance procedure	-0.077	-0.121	-0.038	0.720**	-0.091	-0.626**	-0.046
Percentage of supervisors trained in people-management skills (ref. 60% or more):							
1-59%	0.003	0.02	-0.025	-0.05	0.003	0.038	-0.007
None	-0.023	-0.009	-0.046	-0.162	-0.014	-0.034	-0.026
No supervisors	-0.007	-0.034	0.04	-0.312	0.011	-0.003	-0.009
Attitude tests in recruitment	-0.041	-0.029	-0.063*	0.054	-0.04	-0.031	-0.042
Competency tests in recruitment	-0.033	-0.016	-0.056	-0.135	-0.032	0.015	-0.031
Most recent pay award for LOG (ref: Higher than rest of industry):							
Same as rest of industry	0.021	-0.041	0.085*	0.08	0.016	-0.079	0.026
Lower than rest of industry	-0.028	-0.108	0.05	-0.11	-0.022	-0.015	-0.024
Not known	0.049	-0.09	0.170**	0.288	0.043	-0.041	0.066
Workplace characteristics:							
Number of employees (natural log)	-0.025*	-0.017	-0.029*	-0.078	-0.022	-0.079*	-0.02

Ownership:							
UK-owned; private sector; owner-manager	-0.055	-0.017	-0.044	-0.433	-0.043	-0.282	-0.038
Foreign-owned; private sector	-0.099**	-0.093	-0.096**	-0.115	-0.107**	-0.422***	-0.071*
Public sector	-0.037	-0.048	-0.064	-0.037	-0.042	0.171	-0.052
Single independent establishment	0.019	-0.063	0.092*	0.104	0.02	-0.058	0.019
Percentage of employees female	0.001	-0.002	0.002**	0.004	0	-0.003	0.001
Percentage of employees part-time	0.002**	0.002**	0	0.005	0.002**	0.003	0.002**
Percentage of employees from ethnic minority groups	-0.002	-0.002	-0.001	-0.004	-0.001	-0.004	-0.002
Financial performance:							
Above average for industry	0.052*	0.036	0.068*	0.193	0.048*	0.038	0.046*
No comparison possible	-0.009	0.006	-0.004	0.395**	-0.022	0	-0.012
Observations	18449	9462	8987	700	17749	1052	17397
F statistic	25.943	12.322	15.648	4.043	25.502	4.078	23.827

#### Notes:

- 1. significant at 10%; \*\* significant at 5%; \*\*\* significant at 1%
- 2. Industry dummies (11) and region dummies (10) not reported
- 3. Non-significant controls omitted: Job security guarantees; Greenfield site; Two-way communication; One-way communication; Health insurance; 4+ weeks' paid leave; Disciplinary procedure; Disputes procedure; Establishment age

Table C3 'Baseline' models of employees' perception of the <u>quality of relations</u>

	All	Female	Male	Ethnic minorities	White	Disabled	Non- disabled
	Quality of relations						
Employee characteristics:							
Female	0.042			-0.118	0.053*	0.290**	0.03
Ethnic minority	0.075	-0.032	0.143*			0.109	0.062
Disabled	-0.091*	0.021	-0.152**	-0.195	-0.091*		
Age:							
Less than 20	0.145**	0.14	0.192*	0.624**	0.141*	0.031	0.161**
20 to 24 years old	0.154***	0.096	0.231***	0.048	0.162***	-0.055	0.158***
40 to 49 years old	0.033	0.062*	0.006	0.251	0.026	-0.231**	0.054
50 to 59 years old	0.103***	0.135***	0.077	0.161	0.098***	-0.209	0.133***
More than 60 years old	0.476***	0.444***	0.511***	0.840**	0.471***	0.482**	0.486***
Highest educational qualification:							
Degree level	-0.329***	-0.426***	-0.237***	-0.309	-0.340***	-0.472**	-0.317***
A-level	-0.261***	-0.293***	-0.230***	-0.491**	-0.264***	-0.125	-0.270***
O-level	-0.203***	-0.200***	-0.220***	-0.438**	-0.206***	-0.255*	-0.197***
CSE	-0.076*	-0.016	-0.107	-0.442*	-0.073	-0.173	-0.061
Any vocational qualifications	-0.039	-0.015	-0.026	-0.016	-0.036	0.068	-0.041

Job characteristics:							
Occupational group:							
Professional	0.061	0.068	0.024	0.694**	0.044	0.188	0.053
Assoc. professional & Technical	0.07	0.017	0.061	0.750**	0.056	-0.264	0.091
Clerical & Secretarial	0.081	0.011	0.127	0.224	0.084	-0.25	0.096*
Craft & Skilled	0.007	0.115	0.017	0.414	-0.007	-0.464**	0.044
Personal Service	0.145**	0.082	0.178**	0.492	0.129**	-0.390*	0.187***
Sales	0.125*	0.078	0.143*	0.385	0.129*	-0.401*	0.150**
Operative & Assembly	-0.003	-0.045	0.035	0.315	-0.014	-0.081	-0.017
Tenure:							
Less than 1 year	0.482***	0.564***	0.421***	0.495**	0.485***	0.400**	0.501***
1 year	0.172***	0.244***	0.119**	0.316	0.173***	-0.104	0.198***
2-4 years	0.119***	0.098**	0.148***	-0.061	0.122***	0.047	0.134***
5-9 years	0.026	0.033	0.007	0.108	0.019	-0.098	0.04
Permanent contract	-0.037	-0.004	-0.034	-0.193	-0.032	0.14	-0.048
Weekly hours	-0.005***	-0.007***	-0.002	0.012*	-0.005***	-0.005	-0.005***
Weekly earnings:							
£81-£180	-0.090*	-0.011	-0.277***	-0.331	-0.078	-0.172	-0.066
£181-£260	-0.109*	-0.036	-0.235**	-0.507	-0.084	-0.338	-0.07
£261-£360	-0.08	0.077	-0.237**	-0.906***	-0.036	-0.22	-0.049
£361-£540	-0.064	0.021	-0.17	-1.108***	-0.013	-0.4	-0.015
£541 and above	0.203**	0.114	0.077	-0.826*	0.253***	0.007	0.231**

Union member	-0.138***	-0.127***	-0.148***	-0.035	-0.141***	-0.195*	-0.134***
Flexible working time or location	0.288***	0.251***	0.329***	0.272**	0.286***	0.355***	0.284***
Parental leave or nursery	0.201***	0.235***	0.171***	0.222*	0.205***	0.138	0.208***
Leave for family emergencies	-0.080***	-0.073**	-0.089**	-0.087	-0.080***	0.047	-0.083***
Training in past year:							
1 day	0.138***	0.140***	0.143**	0.078	0.136***	0.420***	0.119***
2-4 days	0.253***	0.314***	0.208***	0.131	0.256***	0.390***	0.242***
5-9 days	0.333***	0.362***	0.329***	0.323*	0.328***	0.630***	0.313***
10 days or more	0.303***	0.359***	0.259***	0.035	0.308***	0.400**	0.291***
Lot of influence over range of tasks	0.215***	0.197***	0.233***	0.399***	0.205***	0.064	0.222***
Lot of influence over pace of work	0.059**	0.055	0.051	-0.033	0.065**	0.133	0.057*
Lot of influence over how work is done	0.151***	0.208***	0.106***	0.285**	0.152***	0.111	0.154***
Human resource practices:							
Number of recognised unions:							
One	0.014	-0.023	0.03	-0.233	0.015	-0.14	0.019
Two or more	-0.035	-0.04	-0.047	0.151	-0.052	-0.111	-0.041
On-site union representation	-0.085*	-0.142***	-0.02	-0.203	-0.079	0.029	-0.093*
Employee perception of union treatment:							
Not taken seriously	-0.822***	-0.991***	-0.762***	-1.134***	-0.812***	-0.960***	-0.821***
DK/NA	-0.028	-0.069	-0.02	0.11	-0.028	-0.134	-0.015
Non-union representative	-0.084**	-0.098**	-0.080*	-0.009	-0.093**	0.158*	-0.110***

Joint consultative committee	0.017	0.032	0	0.202	0.013	-0.002	0.024
Information provided to employees about performance or plans	0.06	0.074	0.061	0.536**	0.052	-0.048	0.066
ER specialist	0.021	-0.017	0.054	-0.032	0.019	0.180*	0.002
Investors In People accredited	0.077**	0.127***	0.044	0.308**	0.074**	0.112	0.072**
Profit-Sharing or share ownership scheme	-0.017	-0.056	-0.003	0.166	-0.024	-0.109	-0.022
Employer pension scheme for non-managerial employees	-0.061	0.034	-0.152**	-0.049	-0.06	0.280*	-0.077
Extra-statutory sick pay for non-managerials	0.019	-0.017	0.049	-0.064	0.019	-0.146	0.026
Fringe benefits harmonized between managerials and non-managerials	0.041	0.076*	0.017	0.155	0.041	0.099	0.036
Performance appraisals linked to training and development	0.014	0.025	0.017	-0.071	0.02	-0.114	0.019
Problem-solving groups	0.033	0.033	0.043	-0.194*	0.039	0.057	0.034
Preference for internal recruitment	0.065*	0.058	0.081*	0.065	0.060*	0.12	0.063*
Employees led to expect long tenure	0.088***	0.114***	0.073	0.101	0.090***	0.158	0.087***
Employees not expected to balance work and family without help	-0.031	-0.024	-0.03	0.412**	-0.04	0.095	-0.037
Formal grievance procedure	-0.118	-0.181	-0.067	-0.002	-0.12	-0.585**	-0.096
Percentage of supervisors trained in people-management skills (ref. 60% or more):							
1-59%	-0.002	0.051	-0.067	0.066	-0.002	-0.011	-0.007
None	-0.045	0.011	-0.126*	-0.199	-0.04	-0.063	-0.047
No supervisors	-0.01	-0.074	0.059	0.065	-0.003	-0.183	0.007

Attitude tests in recruitment	0.041	0.073	0.019	0.145	0.042	0.05	0.037
Competency tests in recruitment	-0.034	-0.04	-0.037	-0.037	-0.036	0.042	-0.033
Most recent pay award for LOG (ref: Higher than rest of industry):							
Same as rest of industry	-0.052	-0.115**	0.018	-0.036	-0.055	-0.134	-0.048
Lower than rest of industry	-0.164**	-0.204**	-0.092	-0.171	-0.154**	0.048	-0.176**
Not known	0.056	-0.113	0.224**	-0.271	0.058	0.162	0.055
Workplace characteristics:							
Number of employees (natural log)	-0.068***	-0.063***	-0.076***	-0.097*	-0.067***	-0.131***	-0.060***
Ownership:							
UK-owned; private sector; owner-manager	0.042	0.048	0.079	0.347	0.046	-0.273	0.062
Foreign-owned; private sector	0.019	-0.04	0.046	0.008	0.018	-0.079	0.031
Public sector	-0.002	0.046	-0.117	0.161	-0.012	-0.052	0.003
Single independent establishment	-0.014	-0.053	0.007	0.213	-0.02	-0.011	-0.024
Percentage of employees female	0.001	0	0.001	0.010**	0	-0.003	0.001
Percentage of employees part-time	0.003**	0.003**	0.002	-0.003	0.003***	0.003	0.003***
Percentage of employees from ethnic minority groups	-0.003*	-0.004*	-0.002	-0.004	-0.003	-0.010*	-0.003
Financial performance:							
Above average for industry	0.053	0.045	0.057	0.102	0.053	-0.017	0.055
No comparison possible	0.041	0.004	0.083	0.305*	0.034	0.067	0.031

Observations	18319	9369	8950	686	17633	1052	17267
F statistic	26.021	13.267	15.545	3.835	25.69	4.38	21.715

### Notes:

- 1. significant at 10%; \*\* significant at 5%; \*\*\* significant at 1%
- 2. Industry dummies (11) and region dummies (10) not reported
- 3. Non-significant controls omitted: Job security guarantees; Greenfield site; Two-way communication; One-way communication; Health insurance; 4+ weeks' paid leave; Disciplinary procedure; Disputes procedure; Establishment age

Table C4 'Baseline' models of employees' perception of <u>loyalty to the organisation</u>

	All	Female	Male	Ethnic minorities	White	Disabled	Non-disabled
	Loyalty	Loyalty	Loyalty	Loyalty	Loyalty	Loyalty	Loyalty
Employee characteristics:							
Female	0.111***			-0.143	0.128***	0.103	0.111***
Ethnic minority	0.175***	-0.005	0.309***			0.033	0.213***
Disabled	-0.007	-0.006	0.014	-0.011	0.008		
Age:							
Less than 20	0.074	0.024	0.142	0.231	0.084	-0.159	0.096*
20 to 24 years old	-0.028	-0.016	-0.046	0.202	-0.044	-0.360*	-0.01
40 to 49 years old	0.151***	0.148***	0.154***	0.391**	0.139***	0.013	0.159***
50 to 59 years old	0.309***	0.351***	0.289***	0.640***	0.301***	0.208	0.314***
More than 60 years old	0.589***	0.470***	0.659***	0.624*	0.596***	0.393*	0.603***
Highest educational qualification:							
Degree level	-0.247***	-0.317***	-0.188***	-0.217	-0.268***	0.08	-0.280***
A-level	-0.141***	-0.173***	-0.121**	-0.015	-0.159***	0.108	-0.164***
O-level	-0.074**	-0.105**	-0.063	-0.309	-0.076**	0.046	-0.086**
CSE	-0.043	0.008	-0.073	-0.323	-0.046	-0.205	-0.04
Any vocational qualifications	-0.029	0.002	-0.045	-0.013	-0.027	-0.131	-0.023
Job characteristics:							
Occupational group:							

Professional	0.044	0.013	0.024	-0.197	0.054	0.533**	0.023
Assoc. professional & Technical	0.035	0.09	-0.045	0.074	0.033	0.437**	0.01
Clerical & Secretarial	0.086	0.173**	-0.057	-0.084	0.086	0.264	0.067
Craft & Skilled	0.023	0.109	-0.009	0.026	0.021	0.246	0.014
Personal Service	0.253***	0.272***	0.173*	0.243	0.241***	0.460**	0.238***
Sales	0.150**	0.206**	0.083	0.09	0.149**	0.252	0.140**
Operative & Assembly	-0.041	0.094	-0.088	-0.11	-0.04	0.475**	-0.08
Tenure:							
Less than 1 year	0.104**	0.145***	0.103*	0.313*	0.109***	0.094	0.114***
1 year	-0.014	0.081	-0.073	0.155	-0.01	-0.107	-0.002
2-4 years	-0.022	-0.007	-0.013	-0.001	-0.014	-0.056	-0.007
5-9 years	-0.05	0.011	-0.092*	-0.016	-0.042	-0.430***	-0.017
Permanent contract	0.051	0.029	0.086	-0.401**	0.064	0.354**	0.039
Weekly hours	0.001	-0.004	0.006***	0.004	0.001	0.009	0.001
Weekly earnings:							
£81-£180	-0.033	0.075	-0.237**	0.359	-0.026	-0.283*	-0.011
£181-£260	-0.057	0.09	-0.234**	0.214	-0.034	-0.618***	-0.003
£261-£360	0.023	0.266***	-0.206*	0.229	0.048	-0.619***	0.076
£361-£540	0.1	0.359***	-0.132	0.08	0.135	-0.658**	0.166*
£541 and above	0.312***	0.443**	0.049	0.279	0.350***	-0.519	0.379***
Union member	-0.058**	-0.041	-0.061	0.12	-0.063**	-0.276***	-0.048
Flexible working time or location	0.140***	0.104***	0.184***	-0.043	0.145***	0.086	0.140***
Parental leave or nursery	0.082***	0.155***	0.004	0.001	0.090***	-0.08	0.102***
Leave for family emergencies	-0.02	0.028	-0.075**	-0.104	-0.022	0.038	-0.025

Training in past year:							
1 day	0.189***	0.189***	0.193***	0.21	0.190***	0.276**	0.183***
2-4 days	0.239***	0.255***	0.228***	0.085	0.250***	0.333***	0.239***
5-9 days	0.291***	0.227***	0.349***	-0.068	0.304***	0.511***	0.283***
10 days or more	0.405***	0.370***	0.422***	-0.054	0.419***	0.544***	0.401***
Lot of influence over range of tasks	0.290***	0.297***	0.285***	0.237*	0.295***	0.082	0.304***
Lot of influence over pace of work	0.048	0.057	0.039	0.064	0.048	0.029	0.054
Lot of influence over how work is done	0.231***	0.220***	0.236***	0.462***	0.222***	0.499***	0.211***
Human resource practices:							
Number of recognised unions:							
One	-0.036	-0.037	-0.003	-0.244	-0.03	0.212	-0.052
Two or more	-0.013	-0.063	0.031	-0.142	-0.008	0.27	-0.034
On-site union representation	-0.019	-0.027	-0.034	0.362**	-0.034	-0.235	-0.008
Employee perception of union treatment:							
Not taken seriously	-0.577***	-0.610***	-0.571***	-0.252	-0.586***	-0.360**	-0.596***
DK/NA	0.015	0.02	-0.016	0.088	0.017	0.31	-0.006
Non-union representative	0.027	0.012	0.032	0.036	0.033	-0.096	0.031
Joint consultative committee	0.009	0.016	0.004	0.007	0.008	0.032	0.009
Information provided to employees about performance or plans	-0.008	-0.043	0.028	0.881***	-0.029	-0.086	-0.01
ER specialist	0.006	-0.025	0.046	-0.109	0.003	0.139	-0.008
Investors In People accredited	0.041	0.008	0.082**	-0.072	0.045	0.168*	0.036
Profit-Sharing or share ownership scheme	0.017	-0.049	0.059	0.181	0.01	0.093	0.01
Employer pension scheme for non-managerial employees	-0.089**	-0.054	-0.121**	-0.405**	-0.077*	-0.046	-0.095**

Extra-statutory sick pay for non-managerials	0.075**	-0.025	0.167***	0.042	0.071*	-0.055	0.083**
Fringe benefits harmonized between managerials and non-managerials	0.022	0.098***	-0.046	0.126	0.024	0.023	0.025
Performance appraisals linked to training and development	-0.009	-0.014	-0.014	0.042	-0.012	-0.084	-0.01
Problem-solving groups	0.047*	0.066*	0.027	-0.227**	0.054**	0.006	0.048*
Preference for internal recruitment	0.082***	0.060*	0.086**	0.133	0.082***	0.184**	0.077***
Employees led to expect long tenure	0.146***	0.145***	0.154***	0.048	0.147***	0.174*	0.146***
Employees not expected to balance work and family without help	0.104**	0.129**	0.067	0.257	0.101**	-0.056	0.110**
Formal grievance procedure	-0.130*	-0.129	-0.142	-0.868***	-0.128*	-0.168	-0.114
Percentage of supervisors trained in people-management skills (ref. 60% or more):							
1-59%	-0.026	-0.017	-0.047	-0.003	-0.02	-0.106	-0.022
None	-0.019	0.082	-0.143***	-0.354*	-0.006	0.054	-0.018
No supervisors	0.021	0.038	0.01	-0.04	0.03	0.171	0.016
Attitude tests in recruitment	0.02	0.026	0.004	0.132	0.026	0.178*	0.013
Competency tests in recruitment	0.002	0.044	-0.029	-0.022	-0.003	0.045	0.003
Most recent pay award for LOG (ref: Higher than rest of industry):							
Same as rest of industry	0.017	-0.053	0.084*	0.144	0.011	0.058	0.019
Lower than rest of industry	-0.083	-0.121	-0.025	0.171	-0.091	-0.07	-0.085
Not known	0.029	-0.057	0.115*	0.006	0.017	0.034	0.027
Workplace characteristics:							
Number of employees (natural log)	-0.033**	-0.022	-0.047***	-0.052	-0.030**	-0.071*	-0.028**

Ownership:							
UK-owned; private sector; owner-manager	-0.035	0.001	-0.045	-0.339	-0.034	-0.056	-0.035
Foreign-owned; private sector	0.088*	0.006	0.111*	-0.194	0.084*	0.492***	0.057
Public sector	-0.025	-0.034	-0.058	0.108	-0.039	0.173	-0.04
Single independent establishment	0.052	-0.049	0.125**	0.436***	0.042	-0.064	0.053
Percentage of employees female	0	-0.003**	0.001	0.005	0	-0.005*	0
Percentage of employees part-time	0.003***	0.004***	0.002	-0.002	0.003***	0.005*	0.003***
Percentage of employees from ethnic minority groups	-0.001	0.002	-0.002	0.006*	-0.004*	-0.001	-0.001
Financial performance:							
Above average for industry	0.032	0.029	0.02	0.251**	0.023	-0.07	0.035
No comparison possible	0.07	0.05	0.061	0.746***	0.051	0.09	0.068*
Observations	18331	9388	8943	688	17643	1051	17280
F statistic	18.467	9.003	12.794	2.808	18.892	3.166	18.258

- 1. significant at 10%; \*\* significant at 5%; \*\*\* significant at 1%
- 2. Industry dummies (11) and region dummies (10) not reported
- 3. Non-significant controls omitted: Job security guarantees; Greenfield site; Two-way communication; One-way communication; Health insurance; 4+ weeks' paid leave; Disciplinary procedure; Disputes procedure; Establishment age

Table C5 'Baseline' models of employees' perception of <u>shared values</u>

	All	Female	Male	Ethnic minorities	White	Disabled	Non-disabled
	Shared values	Shared values	Shared values	Shared values	Shared values	Shared values	Shared values
Employee characteristics:							
Female	-0.02			-0.220*	-0.008	0.171	-0.027
Ethnic minority	0.058	-0.111	0.201***			0.255	0.056
Disabled	-0.141**	-0.02	-0.193**	0.066	-0.144**		
Age:							
Less than 20	-0.077	-0.113	-0.011	-0.009	-0.074	-0.487*	-0.064
20 to 24 years old	-0.077**	-0.100*	-0.046	-0.164	-0.077*	-0.663***	-0.052
40 to 49 years old	0.217***	0.228***	0.206***	0.421**	0.209***	-0.09	0.231***
50 to 59 years old	0.280***	0.316***	0.253***	0.376*	0.275***	-0.221	0.315***
More than 60 years old	0.509***	0.429***	0.583***	1.222***	0.492***	0.361	0.504***
Highest educational qualification:							
Degree level	0.055	0.014	0.099	-0.098	0.05	0.154	0.041
A-level	0.053	0.018	0.09	-0.028	0.045	-0.122	0.05
O-level	0.026	0.035	0.007	-0.102	0.025	-0.163	0.036
CSE	0.032	0.008	0.049	-0.144	0.029	-0.015	0.036
Any vocational qualifications	-0.025	0.013	-0.045	-0.169	-0.021	0.012	-0.023
Job characteristics:							

Occupational group:							
Professional	0.098	0.178*	0.012	0.265	0.103*	0.421*	0.097
Assoc. professional & Technical	0.111**	0.137*	0.08	0.545*	0.110*	0.191	0.113**
Clerical & Secretarial	0.111**	0.104	0.11	0.238	0.109**	0.133	0.109**
Craft & Skilled	-0.088	-0.122	-0.072	-0.261	-0.085	-0.217	-0.058
Personal Service	0.329***	0.351***	0.250***	0.522**	0.322***	0.526**	0.322***
Sales	0.200***	0.181**	0.179**	0.668*	0.191***	0.022	0.218***
Operative & Assembly	0.007	-0.149	0.055	-0.045	0.015	0.192	-0.004
Tenure:							
Less than 1 year	0.209***	0.279***	0.173***	0.063	0.211***	0.097	0.222***
1 year	0.081**	0.139***	0.049	-0.285	0.089**	-0.319*	0.103***
2-4 years	0.039	0.101**	0	-0.503**	0.049	0.036	0.045
5-9 years	-0.021	0.02	-0.05	-0.33	-0.014	-0.449***	0.012
Permanent contract	-0.066	-0.073	-0.028	-0.27	-0.064	-0.068	-0.07
Weekly hours	0	-0.002	0.003	-0.008	0.001	0.004	0
Weekly earnings:							
£81-£180	-0.049	0.021	-0.204*	0.196	-0.05	-0.360*	-0.029
£181-£260	-0.063	0.026	-0.220*	0.107	-0.059	-0.341	-0.035
£261-£360	0.032	0.163*	-0.158	0	0.045	-0.537**	0.069
£361-£540	0.133*	0.241**	-0.03	0.216	0.144*	-0.263	0.173**
£541 and above	0.454***	0.386*	0.313**	0.632	0.463***	-0.375	0.506***
Union member	-0.021	0.016	-0.06	0.034	-0.022	-0.073	-0.017
Flexible working time or location	0.146***	0.166***	0.133***	0.013	0.150***	0.370***	0.133***
Parental leave or nursery	0.119***	0.137***	0.097**	0.377***	0.114***	0.003	0.131***

Leave for family emergencies	-0.063**	-0.045	-0.086**	-0.057	-0.066**	0.008	-0.062**
Training in past year:							
1 day	0.168***	0.126***	0.213***	0.14	0.166***	0.375***	0.159***
2-4 days	0.245***	0.205***	0.282***	0.075	0.253***	0.408***	0.235***
5-9 days	0.379***	0.306***	0.440***	0.299*	0.383***	0.487***	0.364***
10 days or more	0.336***	0.267***	0.393***	-0.07	0.349***	0.453**	0.329***
Lot of influence over range of tasks	0.284***	0.322***	0.254***	0.308**	0.286***	-0.096	0.312***
Lot of influence over pace of work	0.041	0.012	0.069	0.012	0.043	0.195	0.027
Lot of influence over how work is done	0.153***	0.167***	0.146***	0.306***	0.147***	0.063	0.156***
Human resource practices:							
Number of recognised unions:							
One	0.045	0	0.120*	-0.273	0.051	0.325**	0.028
Two or more	-0.013	-0.037	0.006	-0.219	-0.011	0.009	-0.018
On-site union representation	-0.038	-0.066	-0.042	0.11	-0.043	-0.212	-0.034
Employee perception of union treatment:							
Not taken seriously	-0.590***	-0.684***	-0.553***	-0.867***	-0.584***	-0.727***	-0.605***
DK/NA	-0.051	0.025	-0.159**	-0.17	-0.05	-0.135	-0.037
Non-union representative	-0.012	-0.025	0.002	-0.047	-0.012	0.016	-0.015
Joint consultative committee	0.041	0.018	0.057	-0.012	0.045	0.223**	0.036
Information provided to employees about performance or plans	0.086**	0.132**	0.083	0.01	0.089**	-0.131	0.099**
ER specialist	0.02	-0.027	0.070*	-0.013	0.019	0.131	0.007
Investors In People accredited	0.071**	0.066*	0.070*	0.035	0.072**	-0.162*	0.096***
Profit-Sharing or share ownership scheme	-0.027	-0.098**	0.022	0.047	-0.03	0.041	-0.045

Employer pension scheme for non-managerial employees	-0.117***	-0.009	-0.197***	0.136	-0.117***	0.03	-0.125***
Extra-statutory sick pay for non-managerials	0.083**	0.009	0.158***	0.177	0.073*	0.122	0.087**
Fringe benefits harmonized between managerials and non-managerials	0.070**	0.122***	0.007	0.203	0.068**	-0.023	0.072**
Performance appraisals linked to training and development	0.028	0.039	0.018	-0.009	0.024	0.1	0.021
Problem-solving groups	0.073***	0.064*	0.073**	-0.138	0.078***	0.125	0.072***
Preference for internal recruitment	0.110***	0.121***	0.108***	0.094	0.114***	0.237**	0.103***
Employees led to expect long tenure	0.123***	0.099**	0.153***	0.186	0.126***	0.197*	0.125***
Employees not expected to balance work and family without help	0.07	0.111	0.025	0.24	0.065	0.313*	0.057
Formal grievance procedure	-0.041	-0.102	-0.007	0.129	-0.052	-0.288	-0.033
Percentage of supervisors trained in people-management skills (ref. 60% or more):							
1-59%	0.008	0.022	-0.009	-0.289**	0.021	0.086	-0.007
None	0.036	0.095	-0.043	-0.459***	0.048	0.106	0.031
No supervisors	0.061	0.076	0.052	-0.115	0.068	-0.159	0.069
Attitude tests in recruitment	0.058**	0.065	0.051	0.157	0.062**	-0.015	0.063**
Competency tests in recruitment	-0.013	0.01	-0.041	-0.106	-0.011	0.08	-0.012
Most recent pay award for LOG (ref: Higher than rest of industry):							
Same as rest of industry	-0.051	-0.132***	0.027	-0.056	-0.05	-0.107	-0.046
Lower than rest of industry	-0.187***	-0.218***	-0.129*	0.216	-0.195***	-0.069	-0.192***
Not known	-0.032	-0.182***	0.104	-0.09	-0.039	0.004	-0.025
Workplace characteristics:							

Number of employees (natural log)	-0.043***	-0.031	-0.050***	-0.081	-0.041***	-0.163***	-0.031**
Ownership:							
UK-owned; private sector; owner-manager	-0.051	-0.04	-0.056	-0.249	-0.047	-0.196	-0.043
Foreign-owned; private sector	-0.03	-0.046	-0.031	-0.228	-0.033	0.134	-0.03
Public sector	-0.091*	-0.149**	-0.05	0.197	-0.106**	0.27	-0.123**
Single independent establishment	0.01	-0.044	0.079	0.204	-0.003	-0.107	0.011
Percentage of employees female	0.001	0.001	0.001	-0.005	0.001	-0.002	0.001
Percentage of employees part-time	0.002*	0.002**	0	0.004	0.002*	0.002	0.002**
Percentage of employees from ethnic minority groups	0	0.002	-0.001	0.003	-0.001	-0.004	0
Financial performance:							
Above average for industry	0.054*	0.056	0.043	0.179	0.050*	-0.049	0.055*
No comparison possible	0.037	0.027	0.026	0.521***	0.023	-0.257	0.047
Observations	17659	9042	8617	647	17012	1020	16639
F statistic	20.687	9.881	13.885	4.627	20.984	4.39	18.948

- 1. significant at 10%; \*\* significant at 5%; \*\*\* significant at 1%
- 2. Industry dummies (11) and region dummies (10) not reported
- 3. Non-significant controls omitted: Job security guarantees; Greenfield site; Two-way communication; One-way communication; Health insurance; 4+ weeks' paid leave; Disciplinary procedure; Disputes procedure; Establishment age

Table C6 'Baseline' models of employees' perception of <u>pride in the organisation</u>

	All	Female	Male	Ethnic minorities	White	Disabled	Non-disabled
	Pride	Pride	Pride	Pride	Pride	Pride	Pride
Employee characteristics:							
Female	0.103***			-0.137	0.121***	0.16	0.104***
Ethnic minority	0.188***	0.029	0.334***			-0.015	0.222***
Disabled	-0.005	0.026	0.004	-0.206	0.01		
Age:							
Less than 20	-0.068	-0.059	-0.02	-0.246	-0.053	-0.005	-0.058
20 to 24 years old	0.007	-0.019	0.036	0.018	-0.001	-0.15	0.009
40 to 49 years old	0.078**	0.064	0.090*	-0.028	0.079**	0.095	0.072**
50 to 59 years old	0.185***	0.234***	0.151***	0.198	0.184***	-0.046	0.199***
More than 60 years old	0.437***	0.309***	0.531***	1.259***	0.429***	0.367	0.437***
Highest educational qualification:							
Degree level	-0.368***	-0.417***	-0.305***	-0.342	-0.393***	-0.419**	-0.374***
A-level	-0.282***	-0.297***	-0.259***	-0.232	-0.295***	-0.176	-0.293***
O-level	-0.165***	-0.203***	-0.131***	-0.378	-0.164***	-0.335***	-0.158***
CSE	-0.065	-0.039	-0.076	-0.522*	-0.063	-0.307*	-0.044
Any vocational qualifications	0.014	0.039	0.006	-0.058	0.017	0.106	0.014
Job characteristics:							
Occupational group:							

Professional	0.071	0.034	0.079	0.427	0.07	0.377	0.061
Assoc. professional & Technical	0.045	0.076	0.007	0.455*	0.042	0.074	0.047
Clerical & Secretarial	0.043	0.058	-0.012	0.256	0.033	-0.164	0.05
Craft & Skilled	0.028	0.172	-0.005	-0.05	0.023	-0.172	0.048
Personal Service	0.368***	0.299***	0.338***	0.432	0.363***	0.326	0.375***
Sales	0.154**	0.13	0.186**	0.646**	0.132**	0.158	0.155**
Operative & Assembly	-0.056	-0.059	-0.041	0.375	-0.065	-0.09	-0.061
Tenure:							
Less than 1 year	0.302***	0.347***	0.311***	0.412**	0.305***	0.422**	0.306***
1 year	0.176***	0.259***	0.132**	-0.023	0.188***	0.072	0.188***
2-4 years	0.061*	0.090*	0.064	-0.343**	0.072**	0.112	0.064*
5-9 years	-0.003	0.032	-0.018	-0.176	0.005	-0.201*	0.018
Permanent contract	-0.011	-0.036	0.026	-0.419**	0	0.044	-0.015
Weekly hours	-0.003	-0.006**	0.001	-0.006	-0.003	0.009	-0.003*
Weekly earnings:							
£81-£180	-0.081*	0.044	-0.346***	0.188	-0.078	-0.642***	-0.029
£181-£260	-0.046	0.094	-0.220*	0.3	-0.037	-0.844***	0.025
£261-£360	0.062	0.185**	-0.12	0.069	0.085	-0.792***	0.134*
£361-£540	0.119	0.245*	-0.077	0.143	0.136	-0.687**	0.193**
£541 and above	0.396***	0.519**	0.145	0.467	0.418***	-0.972***	0.497***
Union member	-0.073***	-0.078*	-0.066	0.009	-0.075**	-0.14	-0.073**
Flexible working time or location	0.136***	0.124***	0.157***	0.051	0.142***	0.207**	0.131***
Parental leave or nursery	0.112***	0.138***	0.079**	0.061	0.119***	-0.074	0.128***
Leave for family emergencies	-0.038	0.009	-0.100***	0.012	-0.044*	-0.099	-0.035

Training in past year:							
1 day	0.200***	0.195***	0.212***	0.163	0.201***	0.195	0.197***
2-4 days	0.241***	0.245***	0.243***	-0.003	0.255***	0.133	0.250***
5-9 days	0.276***	0.250***	0.300***	0.216	0.275***	0.424**	0.263***
10 days or more	0.462***	0.401***	0.499***	0.07	0.475***	0.172	0.482***
Lot of influence over range of tasks	0.257***	0.313***	0.223***	0.320**	0.262***	0.126	0.275***
Lot of influence over pace of work	0.073***	0.039	0.098**	0.003	0.080***	0.067	0.071**
Lot of influence over how work is done	0.212***	0.196***	0.229***	0.422***	0.201***	0.547***	0.185***
Human resource practices:							
Number of recognised unions:							
One	-0.033	-0.044	-0.038	-0.319	-0.028	-0.106	-0.031
Two or more	-0.007	-0.057	-0.02	0.147	-0.016	0.006	-0.009
On-site union representation	-0.042	-0.076	-0.012	-0.074	-0.042	-0.034	-0.047
Employee perception of union treatment:							
Not taken seriously	-0.584***	-0.650***	-0.562***	-0.286	-0.593***	-0.727***	-0.575***
DK/NA	-0.063*	-0.011	-0.135***	-0.179	-0.060*	-0.05	-0.060*
Non-union representative	-0.005	-0.017	0.011	0.09	-0.008	-0.124	-0.002
Joint consultative committee	0.021	0.016	0.019	-0.021	0.022	0.039	0.028
Information provided to employees about performance or plans	0.003	-0.031	0.042	0.438**	-0.005	-0.096	0.008
ER specialist	0.026	0.014	0.043	0.098	0.022	0.148	0.01
Investors In People accredited	0.068**	0.054	0.090**	0.057	0.073**	0.024	0.077**
Profit-Sharing or share ownership scheme	-0.039	-0.107**	-0.008	-0.013	-0.036	-0.002	-0.049
Employer pension scheme for non-managerial employees	-0.008	0.073	-0.055	-0.158	-0.002	0.299*	-0.023

Extra-statutory sick pay for non-managerials	0.140***	0.073	0.215***	0.192	0.137***	-0.076	0.153***
Fringe benefits harmonized between managerials and non-managerials	0.064**	0.113***	0.022	0.11	0.066**	0.059	0.067**
Performance appraisals linked to training and development	-0.005	-0.003	-0.014	-0.114	-0.005	0.042	-0.015
Problem-solving groups	0.025	-0.011	0.042	-0.227**	0.031	0.03	0.02
Preference for internal recruitment	0.105***	0.106***	0.089**	0.131	0.103***	0.289***	0.096***
Employees led to expect long tenure	0.143***	0.143***	0.135***	-0.052	0.149***	0.002	0.156***
Employees not expected to balance work and family without help	-0.023	0.018	-0.065	0.041	-0.026	0.012	-0.023
Formal grievance procedure	-0.156*	-0.173	-0.153	-0.448	-0.165*	-0.058	-0.153*
Percentage of supervisors trained in people-management skills (ref. 60% or more):							
1-59%	0.001	-0.003	-0.004	0.189	-0.002	-0.065	-0.001
None	0.019	0.076	-0.054	-0.077	0.025	-0.152	0.027
No supervisors	0.026	-0.034	0.084	0.289	0.022	0.077	0.029
Attitude tests in recruitment	0.049	0.084**	0.02	0.273**	0.049	0.179*	0.044
Competency tests in recruitment	0.038	0.067*	0.011	-0.024	0.036	0.133	0.037
Most recent pay award for LOG (ref: Higher than rest of industry):							
Same as rest of industry	-0.014	-0.128**	0.088*	-0.026	-0.014	0.076	-0.014
Lower than rest of industry	-0.146**	-0.194**	-0.075	-0.067	-0.145**	0.082	-0.160**
Not known	-0.016	-0.117*	0.09	0.259	-0.025	-0.106	-0.001
Workplace characteristics:							
Number of employees (natural log)	0.011	0.008	0.018	-0.055	0.017	-0.085*	0.021

Ownership:							
UK-owned; private sector; owner-manager	-0.043	0.007	-0.07	-0.695**	-0.034	-0.184	-0.032
Foreign-owned; private sector	0.055	0.042	0.047	-0.053	0.049	0.228	0.052
Public sector	-0.129***	-0.101	-0.167**	-0.093	-0.136***	0.041	-0.147***
Single independent establishment	0.05	-0.009	0.100*	0.339*	0.043	0.035	0.049
Percentage of employees female	0	-0.001	-0.001	0.002	-0.001	-0.001	0
Percentage of employees part-time	0.001	0.001	0	-0.002	0.001	0.001	0.001
Percentage of employees from ethnic minority groups	-0.004**	-0.003	-0.005**	0.006*	-0.006***	-0.008	-0.004**
Financial performance:							
Above average for industry	0.044	0.059	0.025	0.015	0.041	0.005	0.04
No comparison possible	0.066	0.037	0.061	0.394**	0.05	0.101	0.059
Observations	18304	9368	8936	690	17614	1043	17261
F statistic	21.306	10.167	14.256	3.353	21.877	3.249	20.808

- 1. significant at 10%; \*\* significant at 5%; \*\*\* significant at 1%
- 2. Industry dummies (11) and region dummies (10) not reported
- 3. Non-significant controls omitted: Job security guarantees; Greenfield site; Two-way communication; One-way communication; Health insurance; 4+ weeks' paid leave; Disciplinary procedure; Disputes procedure; Establishment age

Table C7 'Baseline' models of labour productivity and financial performance

	Labour productivity	Financial performance
Human resource practices:		
Number of recognised unions (ref. none):		
One	-0.131	-0.246
Two or more	-0.173	-0.317
On-site union representation	0.282	0.211
Non-union representative	-0.134	-0.125
Joint consultative committee	-0.378**	
Formal practices for two-way, face-to-face communication.	-0.206	-0.184
Formal practices for one-way, face-to-face communication.	-0.038	0.105
Information provided to employees about performance or plans	0.006	-0.236
ER specialist	-0.08	-0.316*
Investors In People accredited	0.214*	0.124
Profit-Sharing or share ownership scheme	0.259*	
Fringe benefits harmonized between managerials and non- managerials	0.072	0.009
Performance appraisals linked to training and development	-0.075	-0.051
Problem-solving groups	0.143	-0.334**
Multi-skilling	0.231*	-0.075
Percentage of agency workers:		
Less than 5 per cent	-0.207	-0.005
5 per cent or more	-0.137	-0.253
Any emps. on short-term contracts	0.05	-0.283
Percentage emps. in higher-skilled occs.	-0.004	-0.011**
Team working	0.253**	0.464***
Training for largest occupational group in past year:		
Less than 2 days	-0.055	0.409**
2 days or more	0.052	0.316*
Paternity leave available	0.084	0.311*
Flexible working patterns available	0.143	-0.121
Parental leave or childcare assistance available	-0.13	-0.316*
Core employees have lot of variety in their work	0.270**	0.278*
Core employees have lot of discretion over working methods	0.118	-0.084
Core employees have lot of control over work pace	-0.098	0.034
Employees led to expect long-term employment	0.398***	0.551***

Employees not expected to balance work and family without help	у -	0.412
Workplace characteristics:		
Number of employees (natural log)	0.081	0.163*
Ownership:		
UK-owned; private sector; owner-manager	0.036	0.345
Foreign-owned; private sector	-0.042	0.278
Single independent establishment	0.086	-0.004
Establishment age:		
5-9 years	0.352*	0.410*
10-24 years	0.111	0.266
25 years or more	-0.027	0.114
DK/NA	0.299	0.786***
Greenfield site	0.264	0.945***
Percentage of employees female	-0.003	0.003
Percentage of employees part-time	0	-0.009**
Percentage of employees from ethnic minority groups	-0.016***	0.009
Occupation of core employees (ref. Professional):		
Assoc. professional & Technical	0.194	0.379
Clerical & Secretarial	0.789**	0.114
Craft & Skilled	0.336	0.182
Personal Service	-0.031	0.182
Sales	-0.145	0.118
Operative & Assembly	0.142	-0.361
Routine unskilled	-0.113	0.033
Number of competitors: (ref. None or few):		
Many	-	0.151
No external trade	-	0.434*
Observations	1125	715
F-statistic	3.007	2.701

- 1. significant at 10%; \*\* significant at 5%; \*\*\* significant at 1%
- 2. Industry dummies (11) and region dummies (10) not reported
- 3. Non-significant variables omitted: Grievance procedure; Disciplinary procedure; Disputes procedure

# **Employment Relations Research Series**

Reports published to date in the BERR Employment Relations Research Series are listed below. Adobe PDF copies can be downloaded either from the Employment Market Analysis and Research web pages:

http://www.berr.gov.uk/employment/research-evaluation/errs (click on the 'Employment Relations Research Series' pages on the right-hand side).

Or via the BERR Publications page: <a href="http://www.berr.gov.uk/publications">http://www.berr.gov.uk/publications</a> (click 'Browse by Subject', then select 'Employment Relations Research')

For printed copies, you can place an order via the Publications page above Alternatively please call the BERR Publications Orderline on 0845 015 0010 (+44 845 015 0010) and provide the publication's URN, or email them at: <a href="mailto:publications@berr.gsi.gov.uk">publications@berr.gsi.gov.uk</a> with your details.

Anyone wishing to be added to our mailing list for printed copies of this series should email their details to us at: <a href="mailto:emar@berr.gsi.gov.uk">emar@berr.gsi.gov.uk</a>

- No. 1 Involving employees in Total Quality Management: employee attitudes and organisational context in unionised environments. Margaret Collinson, Chris Rees, Paul Edwards with Linda Inness. URN 98/507. June 1998
- No. 2 Industrial Tribunals, workplace disciplinary procedures and employment practice. Jill Earnshaw, John Goodman, Robin Harrison and Mick Marchington. URN 98/564. February 1998
- No. 3 The dynamics of union membership in Britain a study using the Family and Working Lives survey. Richard Disney, Amanda Gosling, Julian McCrae and Stephen Machin. URN 98/807. January 1999
- No. 4 The individualisation of employment contracts in Britain. William Brown, Simon Deakin, Maria Hudson, Cliff Pratten and Paul Ryan. URN 98/943. February 1999
- No. 5 Redundancy consultation: a study of current practice and the effects of the Regulations. Jill Smith, Paul Edwards and Mark Hall. URN 99/512. July 1999
- No. 6 The employment status of individuals in non-standard employment. Brendan Burchell, Simon Deakin and Sheila Honey. URN 99/770. July 1999
- No. 7 Partnership at work. John Knell. URN 99/1078. September 1999
- No. 8 Trends in earnings inequality and earnings mobility 1977-1997: the impact of mobility on long-term inequality. Abigail McKnight. URN 00/534. February 2000
- No. 9 Costs and benefits of European Works Councils Directive. Tina Weber, Peter Foster and Kursat Levent Egriboz. URN 00/630. February 2000
- No. 10 Explaining the growth in the number of applications to Industrial Tribunals, 1972-1997. Simon Burgess, Carol Propper and Deborah Wilson. URN 00/624. April 2001
- No. 11 *Implementation of the Working Time Regulations*. Fiona Neathey and James Arrowsmith. URN 01/682. April 2001

- No. 12 Collective bargaining and workplace performance: an investigation using the Workplace Employee Relations Survey 1998. Alex Bryson and David Wilkinson. URN 01/1224. November 2001
- No. 13 Findings from the 1998 Survey of Employment Tribunal Applications (Surveys of Applicants and Employers). URN 03/999. February 2004
- No. 14 Small firms' awareness and knowledge of individual employment rights. Robert Blackburn and Mark Hart. URN 02/573. August 2002
- No. 15 Awareness, knowledge and exercise of individual employment rights. Nigel Meager, Claire Tyers, Sarah Perryman, Jo Rick and Rebecca Willison. URN 02/667. February 2002
- No. 16 Working long hours: a review of the evidence. Volume 1 Main report. Volume 2 Case studies (and appendices). J Kodz et al. URN: 03/1228. November 2003
- No. 17 Evaluation of the Partnership at Work Fund. Mike Terry and Jill Smith. URN 03/512. May 2003
- No. 18 Retirement ages in the UK: a review of the literature. Pamela Meadows. URN 03/820. July 2003
- No. 19 Implementation of the Working Time Regulations: follow-up study. Fiona Neathey. URN03/970. July 2003
- No. 20 The impact of employment legislation on small firms: a case study analysis. Paul Edwards, Monder Ram and John Black. URN 03/1095. September 2003
- No. 21 Employee voice and training at work: analysis of case studies and WERS98. Helen Rainbird, Jim Sutherland, Paul Edwards, Lesley Holly and Ann Munro. URN 03/1063. September 2003
- No. 22 The Second Work-Life Balance Study: Results from the Employer Survey. Stephen Woodland, Nadine Simmonds, Marie Thornby, Rory Fitzgerald and Alice McGee. URN 03/1252. October 2003
- No. 23 The business context to long hours working. T, Hogarth, W.W. Daniel, A.P.Dickerson, D. Campbell, M.Wintherbotham, D. Vivian. URN 03/833. November 2003
- No. 24 Age matters: a review of the existing survey evidence. Dr. Peter Urwin. URN 03/1623. February 2004
- No. 25 How employers manage absence. Stephen Bevan, Sally Dench, Heather Harper and Sue Hayday. URN 04/553. March 2004
- No. 26 The content of new voluntary trade union recognition agreements 1998-2002: Volume one An analysis of new agreements and case studies. Dr Sian Moore, Dr Sonia McKay and Helen Bewley. URN 04/1084. August 2004
- No. 27 The Second Work-Life Balance Study: Results from the Employees' Survey. Jane Stevens, Juliet Brown and Caroline Lee. URN 04/740. March 2004
- No. 28 2003 Compendium of Regulatory Impact Assessments. Employment Market Analysis and Research. URN 04/743. April 2004

- No. 29 Trade union recognition: statutory unfair labour practice regimes in the USA and Canada. John Godard. URN 04/855. March 2004
- No. 30 Equal opportunities policies and practices at the workplace: secondary analysis of WERS98. Tracy Anderson, Neil Millward and John Forth. URN 04/836. June 2004
- No. 31 A survey of workers' experiences of the Working Time Regulations. BMRB Social Research. URN 04/1165. November 2004
- No. 32 The evaluation of the Work-Life Balance Challenge Fund. Adrian Nelson, Kathryn Nemec, Pernille Solvik and Chris Ramsden. URN 04/1043. August 2004
- No. 33 Findings from the Survey of Employment Tribunal Applications 2003. Bruce Hayward, Mark Peters, Nicola Rousseau and Ken Seeds. URN 04/1071. August 2004
- No. 34 Employment relations monitoring and evaluation plan 2004. Employment Market Analysis and Research. URN 04/1256. September 2004
- No. 35 Findings from the 1998 survey of representatives in Employment Tribunal cases. P.L.Latreille, J.A. Latreille and K.G. Knight. URN 04/1530. August 2004
- No. 36 Employment attitudes: Main findings from the British Social Attitudes Survey 2003. Harjinder Kaur. URN 04/1868. December 2004
- No. 37 Job separations: A survey of workers who have recently left any employer. Volume one Main analysis report. Tania Corbin. URN 04/1920. December 2004
- No 38 Equal opportunities, employee attitudes and workplace performance: findings from WERS 1998. John Forth and Ana Rincon-Aznar. URN 08/575. March 2008.
- No. 39 Results of the Second Flexible Working Employee Survey. Heather Holt and Heidi Grainger. URN 05/606. April 2005
- No. 40 2002 Compendium of Regulatory Impact Assessments. Employment Market Analysis and Research. URN 05/582. April 2005
- No. 41 2004 Compendium of Regulatory Impact Assessments. Employment Market Analysis and Research. URN 05/1018. April 2005
- No. 42 The age dimension of employment practices: employer case studies. Stephen McNair and Matt Flynn. URN 05/863. June 2005
- No. 43 The content of new voluntary trade union recognition agreements 1998-2002. Volume two Findings from the survey of employers. Dr Sian Moore, Dr Sonia McKay and Helen Bewley. URN 05/1020. May 2005
- No. 44 Employment Relations monitoring and evaluation plan 2005, Employment Market Analysis and Research. URN 05/1019. July 2005
- No. 45 Review of research into the impact of employment relations legislation. Linda Dickens, Mark Hall and Professor Stephen Wood. URN 05/1257. October 2005

- No. 46 People, Strategy and Performance: Results from the Second Work and Enterprise Business Survey. The Work Foundation. URN 05/1392. September 2005
- No. 47 'Small, flexible and family friendly' work practices in service sector businesses. Lynette Harris and Carley Foster. URN 05/1491. October 2005
- No. 48 2005 Compendium of Regulatory Impact Assessments. Volume 1 and Volume 2. Employment Market Analysis and Research. URN 06/627 (Volume 1) and 06/669X (Volume 2). March 2006
- No. 49 Survey of employers' policies, practices and preferences relating to age. Hilary Metcalf and Pamela Meadows. URN 05/674. April 2006
- No. 50 Maternity and paternity rights and benefits: survey of parents 2005. Deborah Smeaton and Alan Marsh. URN 06/836. March 2006.
- No. 51 Employment Rights at Work: Survey of Employees. Jo Casebourne, Jo Regan, Fiona Neathey, Siobhan Tuohy. URN 06/837. April 2006.
- No. 52 2001 Compendium of Regulatory Impact Assessments. Employment Market Analysis and Research. URN 06/927. July 2006
- No. 53 1999 Compendium of Regulatory Impact Assessments. Employment Market Analysis and Research. URN 06/955. July 2006
- No. 54 Findings from the Survey of Claimants in Race Discrimination Employment Tribunal Cases. URN 06/1059. Mark Peters, Ken Seeds and Carrie Harding. September 2006
- No. 55 The Experience of Claimants in Race Discrimination Employment Tribunal Cases. Jane Aston, Darcy Hill and Nil Djan Tackey. URN 06/1060. April 2006
- No. 56 How have employees fared? Recent UK trends. Grant Fitzner. URN 06/924. June 2006
- No. 57 International review of leave policies and related research. Peter Moss and Margaret O'Brien (editors). URN 06/1422. June 2006
- No. 58 The Third Work-Life Balance Employee Survey: Main findings. Hülya Hooker, Fiona Neathey, Jo Casebourne and Miranda Munro. URN 07/714. March 2007
- The Third Work-Life Balance Employee Survey: Executive summary. URN 07/715 (replacing July 2006 version, URN 06/1372/ES). March 2007
- No. 59 The right to request flexible working: a review of the evidence. Grant Fitzner and Heidi Grainger. URN 07/840. March 2007
- No. 60 2000 Compendium of Regulatory Impact Assessments. Employment Market Analysis and Research. URN 06/1164. July 2006
- No. 61 The settlement of Employment Tribunal cases: evidence from SETA 2003. Paul L. Latreille. URN 07/1149. July 2007
- No. 63 The First Fair Treatment at Work Survey: Executive summary updated. Heidi Grainger and Grant Fitzner. URN 07/803 (replacing June 2006 version, URN 06/1380). March 2007

- No. 64 Review of judgments in race discrimination Employment Tribunal cases. Alison Brown, Angus Erskine and Doris Littlejohn. URN 06/1691. September 2006
- No. 65 Employment flexibility and UK regional unemployment: persistence and macroeconomic shocks. Vassilis Monastiriotis. 06/1799. December 2006
- No. 66 Labour market flexibility and sectoral productivity: a comparative study. Vassilis Monastiriotis. 06/1799. December 2006
- No. 67 1997-1998 Compendium of Regulatory Impact Assessments. Employment Market Analysis and Research. URN 06/1840. September 2006
- No. 68 Union modernisation fund: interim evaluation of first round. Mark Stuart, Andy Charlwood, Miguel Martinez Lucio and Emma Wallis. URN 06/1803. September 2006
- No. 69 Employee representation in grievance and disciplinary matters making a difference? Richard Saundry and Valerie Antcliff. URN 06/2126. December 2006
- No. 70 Changing job quality in Great Britain 1998 2004. Andrew Brown, Andy Charlwood, Christopher Forde and David Spencer. URN 06/2125. December 2006
- No. 72 Embedding the provision of information and consultation in the workplace: a longitudinal analysis of employee outcomes in 1998 and 2004. Annette Cox, Mick Marchington and Jane Suter. URN 07/598. February 2007
- No. 73 Patterns of information disclosure and joint consultation in Great Britain determinants and outcomes. Riccardo Peccei, Helen Bewley, Howard Gospel and Paul Willman. URN 07/599. February 2007
- No. 74 2006 Compendium of Regulatory Impact Assessments. Employment Market Analysis and Research. URN 07/669. April 2007
- No. 76 Reassessing the 'family-friendly workplace': trends and influences in Britain, 1998-2004. Gillian Whitehouse, Michele Haynes, Fiona Macdonald and Dionne Arts. URN 07/827. July 2007
- No. 77 Work-life policies in Great Britain: What works, where and how? Sadia Nadeem and Hilary Metcalf. URN 07/826. July 2007
- No. 78 *Mapping the recruitment agencies industry.* Experian Business Strategies. URN 07/1259. October 2007
- No. 80 International Review of Leave Policies and Related Research. Peter Moss and Karin Wall, eds.URN 07/1232. July 2007
- No. 81 Doing the right thing? Does fair share capitalism improve workplace performance?. Alex Bryson and Richard Freeman. URN 07/906. May 2007
- No. 83 The costs and benefits of Employment Tribunal cases for employers and claimants. Kathy Armstrong and David Coats. URN 07/1151. July 2007
- No. 84 The influence of legal representation at Employment Tribunals on case outcome. Geraldine Hammersley, Jane Johnson and David Morris. URN 07/1150. July 2007

- No. 85 Developing an Index of Labour Market Adaptability. David Tinsley and Vassilis Monastiriotis. URN 07/1144. November 2007
- No 86. *The Third Work-Life Balance Employer Survey: Main findings*. Bruce Hayward, Barry Fong and Alex Thorton. URN 07/1656. December 2007.
- No. 88 Implementing information and consultation: early experience under the ICE Regulations. Mark Hall, Jane Parker, John Purcell, Michael Terry and Sue Hutchinson. URN 07/1388. September 2007
- No. 91 Offshoring and wage inequality in the UK, 1992-2004. Claudia Canals. URN 07/1667. December 2007
- No. 92 The Union Modernisation Fund: an interim progress report. Mark Stuart, Andy Charlwood, Miguel Martinez Lucio and Emma Wallis. URN 08/639. March 2008